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Preface

The Baltimore & Ohio Railroad, conceived in the 1820s by the merchants of Baltimore as a way
to capture a share of the burgeoning frontier trade, reached Harpers Ferry, (West) Virginia in
December 1836. Though it was considered a marvel of surveying and engineering in its time,
the B&O's main line from Baltimore to Wheeling incorporated numerous impediments to
efficient operation—grades too steep, bridges too light, and curves too sharp. Oftentimes these
conditions were the consequence of the need to select initial routes and construction methods
based on financial constraints rather than engineering 1deals. Compromises were made in order
to complete the line quickly to the established end point, thereby initiating a flow of revenue.
With the capital thus generated, the B&O could go back and make improvements along the line
to 1ncrease the efficiency of its operations. Because of its unique physical geography, the
landscape at Harpers Ferry presented B&O engineers numerous challenges.

The train station at Harpers Ferry provides an excellent opportunity to study the relationship
between railroad engineering and railroad economics. Designed by architect E. Francis Baldwin,
the station was built as the finishing touch on a series of improvements made to the main line at
Harpers Ferry from 1892-94. The station was moved from its original location to its present site
in 1931 during a second round of improvements. Both sets of improvements were made during
periods of economic uncertainty and both significantly modified the historic landscape of
Harpers Ferry. The station 1s historically significant today, not only for its association with a
notable architect, but also because i1t continues a long record of service for the region's rail

passengers.

This historical background report focuses on the history of the station within the context of the
B&O's alignment and facilities at Harpers Ferry. The financial health of the railroad during
crucial episodes of the station's history is also a central theme. Part One is a review of the early
history of the railroad at Harpers Ferry. It explains how and why the railroad reached the town
in the first place. It also recounts how the B&QO's dangerous and inefficient alignment came to
be. Part Two covers the 1892-94 improvements to the alignment. Details of the construction
and description of the station are included. These details are examined within the context of the
career of its architect as well as general trends in passenger station design of the era. Part Three
begins with a discussion of the 1930-31 improvements to the B&O main line at Harpers Ferry.
These were the last major betterments made to the line in town. Structural changes were made to
the station as well, and these are also discussed. Lastly, this section recalls the more recent
history of the station, a history that mirrors the slow decline of the railroads as they faced
increasing competition from other modes of transportation. The report ends with the National

Park Service acquisition of the station.

Treating the subject in such a manner requires a certain simplification of a very complex history.
Unfortunately, as a result, some interesting subjects are only mentioned in passing while others
are left wholly unexplored. While the main focus of this report 1s the B&O train station at
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Harpers Ferry, 1t 1s not intended to be a detailed study of the building's historic fabric. Instead
the author hopes to relate the station to the broader history of railroading at Harpers Ferry. By
doing so, it is hoped that a deeper understanding can be reached of the station's true place in the
historic landscape.

|
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PART ONE: The Early History of the B&O at Harpers Ferry

The Founding and Early Challenges of the B&O Railroad

In the first third of the nineteenth century significant internal improvements caused a dramatic
growth of domestic commerce in the United States. A transportation revolution occurred with
the rapid development of turnpikes, canals, and railroads. Each of these improved modes of
travel fueled the transportation revolution by reducing the cost and lessening the difficulties of
internal trade. These years also were characterized by the swift expansion of the western frontier
beyond the Appalachian Mountains. The population of the frontier boomed, resulting in the
opening of many new markets. The seemingly unlimited potential of the region captured the
attention and fostered competition between the merchants in the east. Businessmen of the
principal Atlantic seaport cities—particularly those in New York, Philadelphia, and Baltimore—
realized that whoever could capture the trade of the Ohio and Mississippi River region would
enjoy an immediate advantage over his rivals. It was this race to reach the new western markets
that sparked the drive to build transportation systems across the mountains and link east and

west.

With the opening of the Erie Canal, the merchants of New York won the first advantage in the
competition to tap the western trade. Completed in 1825, the canal connected the waters of the
upper Hudson River with Lake Erie. It spurred growth all along its corridor. The financial
success of the Erie Canal was immediate and it firmly established New York as the dominant
eastern city in the quest for the western trade. The superior economic position of New York
City over 1its rivals caused a panic among the business communities up and down the eastern
seaboard. New York's early success prompted Baltimoreans to act.

The businessmen of Baltimore realized they needed to adopt some course of action to keep pace
with the brisk commercial traffic enjoyed by the Erie Canal. A canal, though, did not hold much
appeal for them as a solution. Situated almost halfway between where the Susquehanna River
enters the Chesapeake Bay and the Potomac River at Washington, Baltimore lacked its own
waterway into the interior of the country. Surveyors explored possible connections with the
Susquehanna to the north and the Potomac to the south, but a suitable route could not be found.
Geographical, financial, and political obstacles left the merchants of Baltimore in a quandary.’
Reahizing they had little chance for a practical all-water route to the west, Baltimore's leaders in
1827 decided instead to support a new kind of transportation system developing in Britain—the

railroad.

' John F. Stover, History of the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad, (Purdue University Press, West Lafayette, Indiana,
1987), 6-8.

? Herbert H. Harwood, Jt., Impossible Challenge: The Baltimore and Ohio Railroad in Maryland, (Bamard, Roberts
and Co., Inc., Baltimore, Maryland, 1979), 4.
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After nearly a century of experimenting and refining, the British had proven that railroads, at
Jeast for short distances over moderate terrain, were a practical alternative to canals. The
business leaders of Baltimore were inspired by the British example. In February 1827 they
approved a resolution that an immediate application be made to the Maryland legislature for an
act to incorporate a company to be called the Baltimore and Ohio Railway Company.” The
Company's goal was to build a railroad all the way to Wheeling, nearly 400 miles to the west on
the Ohio River. It was a bold idea. It was, most historians of engineering agree, equivalent to a
nineteenth-century moon shot. Properly trained individuals and the engineering knowledge
required to build 1t simply did not exist in this country at that time. And though it was not the
nation's first railroad, the Baltimore and Ohio (B&QO) was a pioneer that proved the practicality
of railroading over long distances and rugged terrain.

Almost as soon as construction began in 1828, B&O officials encountered delays. They soon
realized that building a railroad all the way to the Ohio would take much longer than the five
years that some optimistically hoped. Chief among the reasons for delays was disagreements
between engineers and the board of directors. Because the company was, in effect, inventing the
railroad as 1t went, debates arose on nearly every topic—debates on what type of track to use,
how to prepare the roadbed, and what type of bridges to build. However, the most critical
decision for the B&QO's engineers was to determine the basic grade and curvature standards for
building the railroad. Because there were so few precedents to gauge from, the engineers simply
had no 1dea how much a steam locomotive would weigh, what it could pull, how steep a hill it
could climb, or how sharp a curve it could take. Financial pressures and competition from rivals
also forced the railroad to make quick, though not always the best, decisions with regards to
engineering and construction questions. The primitive state of railroading led to much
disagreement on how the railroad should be built.

The nature of the terrain presented another serious challenge to engineers during the early stages
of designing of the railroad. The land to be covered was rough, ranging from rolling hills to high
mountains. There were rivers with high rocky bluffs. Even a slight variation in grade and
curvature standards in this type of landscape would make huge differences in construction costs.
Should the terrain dictate the alignment or should the alignment be designed around the
approximate capabilities of the railroad locomotive? In the end the engineers compromised. The
maximum grade was set at 18 feet to the mile, or 0.3 percent, and 14 to 18-degree curves were
allowed. As railroad historian Herbert Harwood, Jr. notes, it was exactly the wrong compromise.
The grades could have been steeper, but the curves should have been gentler.4

> Stover, History of the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad, 17.

* Harwood, Impossible Challenge, 8; James D. Dilts, The Great Road: The Building of the Baltimore & Ohio, The
Nation’s First Railroad, 1828-1853, (Stanford University Press, Stanford, California, 1993), 96.
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The Point of Rocks Dispre

The B&O built us line westward from Baltimore n
essentinlly three surges. The [irst of these began in 1828
and ended in 1834 at Harpers Ferry, cighty-two miles west
of Baltimore. The B&OY's engincering corps quickly
finished a reconnaissance survey fora oute from Baltimore
to the Potomac River (Figure 1), They selected a route from
Balumore that met the Patapsco River at Relay, Maryland,
and then followed the Patapsco and Monocacy Rivers 1o the
Potomac at Poimt of Rooks. Mnrylnn:!.' From Point of
Rocks the ruilroad would follow the river upstream (o
Harpers Ferry, a dozen miles to the west. However, at Point
ol Rocks the rallroad came oo direet conflict with its
regional competitor, the Chesapeake and Ohio (C&O)
Canal.

The mailroad was completed to Point of Rocks, about seventy  Figure L B3O surveyors at work in
miles from Baltimore, o April 1, 1832, Progress beyond ¢ Posomac River Fallo' {painting
Point of Rocks was halled there, however, becunse of a Ry 55

bitter dispute with the C&O Canal. Both the canal and milroad, m their earliest planmng, had
proposed to follow thie north bank of the Potomac 10 4 point &s far s Cumberland, Maryliand
The problem was one of space. From Point of Rocks to Harpers Ferry, the shoreline is at several
places reduced 10 8 very nurrow plece of land by the sheer ¢hiffs of the Catoetin Mountaing
(Figure 2), Along this narrow shelf the projected routes for the two works overlipped and the
two companies fought & long driawn out court battle 1 win the desired nght-of-way.

The Tegal conflict was settled it 1835 when the Marylund legislature forced a comprorise
agreement with conditions quite favorable to the canil company. By the agreement the two
improvements would share the marrow sirip of land. One component of the agreement was that
the C&Q Canal would be respansible for building the milmad's roadbed in the three hghtest
spols, with the cos| ta be pmd by the B&0O, Another major component of the agreement lorced
the B&O 1o halt construction oo the rlmoad west of Harpers Ferry until the canal reached
Cumberland. Mosi important of all in regards to the fledgling milroad. though. was that the
agreement requited the B&O 1o sbandon i1s nrtyilml planned roule Lo reach Cumberland uamg
the north side of the nver ahove Harpers Ferry.” This last stipulation would have serious
engineering ramifications for the tailrosd when the B&O reached Harpers Ferry and
comemplated its next move west

* Harwood, fepasvihly Chadlymge, 9,
" Narwood, fmperrniblie Chulléngs, 293
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Eigwre 2 Thw ernaln fireedd e CAD Comnlund
B8O Rudlvowd fo sharre it apaiew vesee Pradnte ol
Rocld, Muarsdiied. INPS phiciéa )

The B&O Ratlroad Reaches Harpers Ferry

The ratlroad had o decision w make The B&O's exelusion Fom the noith shore of the Polomae
meant that the railroad either had to cross the nver at Harpers Ferry. or else bypass Harpers Ferry
altogether by heading ofT instead in the direction of Hugersiown, Marvld There were political
pressures and financinl advimtages for the railroad to remain as much us possible in the state of
Marvlind. Another factor 1o weigh in this decision was the nature of the niver and bluffs around
Hurpers Ferry, For the ruilroad 1o reach Harpers Ferry much work wiss required just to make
room for the trucks. As dsunting as the temain aroundd Hampers Ferry was, the prospect of
connecting the line wath the Winchester and Potomac (W&P) Railroad, & new thirtv-mile rail line
that was then being buill from Winchester, Virginia along the Shenandoah River towards
Hurpers Ferry. was too miich to pass up

A B&O connection with the WP, it was reasoned, would immediately bring aflic from the
fertile Shenandoah Valley.  In this way a steady siream of revenue could be generated and the
incame used 1 make improvements 1o the completed hne.  Likewise, the new source of revenue

" Chatles W. Soell *The Town of Tiarpers Ferry m IBS0. A Mhysival History * (Unpoblidhed typesenpt, 69 pages,
nn file Harpers Ferry Matuvinl Historcal Parie Harpess Ferry, West Viegovin. 19590 33-31.
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could be used 1o fund construction of the line further west. There were also vague notions af
continuing the line further south inte Virginie, with the W& envisioned as an extension of the
B&O line. For the moment, however, the pnmary goal was {o reach Harpers Ferry nnd conneci
with the W&P

The B&O line was lmshed 1o the Marvland side of the Polomae opposite Harpers Ferrv on
December 1, 1834.% There, helow the sheer, rocky cliffs known as Maryland Heights, the
riutlroad ended at the cast end of the Fredenck and Harpers Ferry Tumpike bndge. The existing
hridige was adequate for wagons and pedestrians, but useless tor the passage of a railroad. The
B&O therefore had to build its own bridge.

The problens facing B&O engineer Benjamin Latrobe, Jr. was a difficult one. Because of i bend
in the river, the entrance 1o the bndge from the Maryland shore had 1o be placed where the
railroad, turnpike, and cunal were crowded together on the narrow space below Maryland
Hetghts, This unfortunate geographical armangethent prevented bum from designing s gradual
curve of the tracks onto the bndge (Figure 3). Because the bridge was pracrically @ a right angle
1o the river, a fairly sharp curve was the only answer. On the Hapers Forry side, the goal was
simply to align the bndge direotly wath the grade of the WAP. Little thought was given 1o how
the mumn ling would eventually continue west from there. Ultimately, when the B&0O did decide
on @ course out of Harpers Ferry, the alignment of the bridge proved 1o be quite unsatistactory

e RS L e gt
Figure 3. Rulroad, canal, and rapikie compaetad for Timiad  spoaee on e Merydosd end of the brulge.  The
awidrward curvw of the racdromd irack;, seen herean (363, hmdered triom movemaney kore for years: (VPS8 phooa)

" Everthart, William A4 Hivors of Hurpers Ferry. {Unpoblzshed typescript. 243 pages, on file Harpers Femy
MSanonal Hassonesl Park, 1952), 25
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Early Railroad Structures in Harpers Ferry

When Latrobe's Potomac River bridge was completed in 1837, it connected the B&O to the
newly completed W&P and transformed the old ferry landing into an area of bustling
commercial activity. This commercial area was known as the Ferry Lot, a parcel of land retained
by private landowners as the federal government acquired the surrounding property for its
armory and arsenal buildings.” Just prior to the completion of the bridge, the B&O's president
predicted that once the junction with the W&P was made, "the passenger and burden trains of the
two companies will then stop, side by side, in the same depot, and the transit from one to the
other will be effected promptly and with great convenience."'? In 1836 the B&O purchased a lot
at the west end of the new bridge on the south side of the W&P tracks. Here the railroad
company erected a ticket office, a small 1 %-story brick building measuring 30' x 20"."!
Presumably, passengers loaded and unloaded near the ticket office. And contrary to the B&O
president's prediction in 1836 of a single freight depot, the town lacked adequate freight and
passenger facilities for years.

The B&O and the W&P maintained separate freight depots and these were not even built until

nearly a decade had passed. The B&O built a freight depot in 1846-47. It was a two-story brick

structure of unknown dimensions.'> The W&P freight depot was located along its right-of-way
through the Arsenal Square on Shenandoah Street. The one-story brick building, built around
1847, measured approximately 125' x 30"."* Prior to the construction of these buildings, freight
interchange was problematic; goods to be loaded or unloaded sat in boxcars on a siding across
the Potomac River from the town. "

With the expectation of increased passenger traffic and greatly increased amounts of freight at
Harpers Ferry, why did 1t take the B&O nearly a full decade to build a freight depot and no
passenger depot at all? The answer is a simple combination of economics and tradition. First of
all, the company preferred to spend its limited resources on facilities for accommodating its

? Cathy Gilbert et al, "Cultural Landscape Report: Lower Town, Harpers Ferry National Historical Park,"
(Department of the Interior, National Park Service, Harpers Ferry National Historical Park, Harpers Ferry, West
Virginia), 3.8.

' Annual Report of the President and Directors to the Stackholders of the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad.
(Baltimore, 1836), 3.

"' Snell, The Town of Harpers Ferry, 30.
2 Snell, The Town of Harpers Ferry,32.
" Gilbert, Cultural Landscape Report, 3.59; Snell, The Town of Harpers Ferry, 32.

** Michael W. Caplinger, Bridges Over Time: A Technological Context for the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad Main
Stem at Harpers Ferry, West Virginia. (West Virginia University Institute for the History of Technology and
Industrial Archeology, Morgantown, West Virginia, 1997), 26.
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freighl. Still in 1ts miancy and scrambhing to raise money for tracks and equipment. the
company's £oal wis to sturt operations quickly and penerate badly peeded revenne. And smee
merchandise needed protection from weather and thieves, a freight depot was simply deemed
more necessary [han 8 passenger depol. ' Only ufler s financial bealth mmproved and revenue was
generuted, did the raibroad tum its artention to a structure for passengers.

Furthermore, while the lnck ol o passenger
station miy appear to be a glaring oversight to a
modem-day traveler, passengers i the [830s
were accustonied o fending lor themselves.
was. after all, a long-standing custom for canal
and tumpike travelers o make their own
armngements for food and lodging: The B&O
Ratlroad, following the lead ol urnpike
operators, loaded and unlodded passengers at
privately owned, pre-existing trackside structures
(Figure 4), Taverns, stores, and hotels were the
types of buildings most often used.” An 1836
advertisement notified residents of Harpers Ferry
that "Passengers wishing to take the rail road
cars at this place will, for the present, leave their
names @ the Caner's Hotel, where o flag will be
hoisted W apprse the conductor on the road
Without such notice. the conductor may pass on

" i X ) Figure 4. Many fown had m-_ﬂ.-.?.‘ dipt i thee
with the cars, ‘1'}:'.{” the impression that there are darfy dicivs of radlvoad ravel.  Moteld iond invierns

M) PIUSsCTECTS witre wded littead fderall of o painting o W D
ST )

1 o L RRae

Ther Ratlroad Continuex West on a Less than Ideal Alignmont

By 1838 the B&O was ready 10 resume building the main line towards Cumberland. Maryland
and then o the Oluo River beyond. The first problem. though, was how 1o get oul of the Harpers
Ferry bottleneck. Because of its unique physical geography, the wown, federal armory, arsenal
butidings, and milroads all competed for the Bmited level land by the nvers, The B&C) had two
allernatives: it could either continue along the Shenandoah River on the W&P tracks and then
turm north outside of town or head directly west through the U5, armory property.  Because of

" Jnnet Greenetein Potber, Great Ameevcan Budlvewd Sipevins, (ohn Wiley & Soms, bses New York, New York,
1o0n), 3, 1L Roger Grant, Livieg by the Depet The Tao-Seary Kaflraadd Seaficin, (University of Towa Press, lova
City, bowa, 1992), 7

" Finntia Frest Prese 24 March 1836. pacs.
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the orientation of the Potomac bridge, the Shenandoah route was the preferred choice. A train
crossing the bridge could continue upstream along the north shore of the river. By leasing six
miles of the W&P's track, the B&O main line could leave the Shenandoah Valley near Charles
Town, turn northwest towards Martinsburg and then rejoin the Potomac.'’ After surveyors
demonstrated the feasibility of this route, the B&O entered into negotiations with the W&P.
Motivated by reasons that are not clearly understood, the W&P refused to grant the B&O the
necessary track rights.'®

The W&P's refusal to share its tracks left the B&O little choice but to utilize the south bank of
the Potomac River for its route west. This was not a desirable alignment because the large
federal armory already occupied nearly all of the level land by the niver (Figure 5). To go this
way the railroad company would have to obtain a narrow right-of-way through the armory
grounds from the government. The government was initially hesitant to allow the railroad access
to the armory grounds. The fear of possible fires caused by embers and sparks from the train's
steam engine was a major concern. Finally the two parties reached an agreement in mid-1838."
The agreement required the B&O to build an elevated track with the trestle to be placed atop a
parallel set of walls along the edge of the armory that protected it from floodwaters (Figure 6).
The construction and future maintenance costs of the extensive masonry work and lengthy
wooden trestle promised to be high. Worse than all of this, however, was the fact that this
alignment intersected the railroad bridge over the Potomac at almost a right angle (Figure 7).
The bridge was designed to connect head-on with the W&P, not to turn upstream alongside the
Potomac. As things stood, there was no space to introduce a gradual connecting curve.

With a bridge essentially pointing the railroad up the wrong river, B&O engineer Benjamin
Latrobe faced yet another perplexing problem at Harpers Ferry—how to engineer an acceptable
turn onto the armory wall while maintaining the junction with the W&P. Latrobe's solution was
to re-design the western end of the bridge by inserting a switch and starting a curve 265' out on
the bridge from the south shore. He then rebuilt the Harpers Ferry end of the bridge so that it
resembled the shape of the letter "Y." The resulting curved span took the westward track around
the curve and onto the trestle along the armory (Figure 8). The curve was still sharp and
dangerous, but Latrobe made the best of a bad situation. He apparently justified his somewhat
awkward design for the bridge based on the nature of the B&O's early traffic. In the early days
of railroading the typical train was light, short, and slow. In any case, Latrobe's alignment was
an iventive solution to the problem. And though the alignment was far from perfect, at least the
railroad was headed west again.

' Dwight E. Stinson, "The First Railroad Bridge at Harpers Ferry," (National Park Service, Harpers Ferry National
Historical Park, Harpers Ferry, West Virginia, 1970), 8. .

'* Harwood, Impossible Challenge, 42.

. Caplinger, Bridges Over Time, 28.




|

Baltimore & Ohio Railroad. Harpers Ferry Station
HAER No. WV-806
(Puge 9)

Figure 5. The goverpment wmor) oceupied veost of the leved lesed o4 the Potumae
Cirgaimms tunees freed e reliliood 1 seel o Hghtsfaay throsgh the armiiry growids
(NP

Fiyure . 1339 view of the elevated trevtle ﬁm]‘m e e r_und: River
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New-Found Freight and An Aging Railroad

Compared to its earlier progress, construction on the line west of Harpers Ferry moved rapidly.
Construction began in 1839 and the line was opened in sections. The Harpers Ferry to
Martinsburg, (West) Virginia section opened on May 21, 1842. Ten days later the ratlroad
reached Hancock, Maryland. Work continued for a period of months on the section west of
Hancock, with crews laying rails at a rate of one mile per day. Though still a long way from its
Ohio River goal, the B&O main line finally reached Cumberland, Maryland on November 3,
1842.%° ‘With the line complete to Cumberland, the B&O finally had a source of sustainable
heavy traffic—coal.

Although still a decade away from reaching the Ohio River, the completion of the B&O to
Cumberland was a major accomplishment for the railroad. Coal began moving east in 1843, at
first slowly, but then in ever increasing amounts as more mines opened around Cumberland and
as the B&O improved its port terminals to handle the flow. For the year 1848, more than 66,000
tons of coal-—about 40 percent of the railroad's entire eastbound freight—was shipped through
Harpers Ferry on its way to Baltimore. Just two years later this had doubled to 132,000 tons,
now nearly 60 percent of the eastbound freight.?' Other freight included thousands of tons of
iron, crushed stone, and tobacco. The boom in coal traffic and the money from this new business
was certainly welcome, but it had a negative effect as well. It underscored some of the original
engineering problems on the railroad between Harpers Ferry and Baltimore.

By the 1850s, the primitive state of early sections of the railroad was becoming a problem for the
B&O. Not only was the massive weight of the freight wearing on the tracks, but also the types
of locomotives used to haul it became heavier and heavier. During the 1830s the typical weight
of freight and passenger locomotives was ten to eleven tons. Beginning in 1844, the B&O
introduced powerful new freight-only trains that weighed between twenty and twenty-four tons.*
And the problems only worsened as train lengths and their wheelbases increased.” With trains
and weights of this type, the already serious problems of track types, bridges, and sharp curves
became nearly impossible.

The B&O realized that improvement projects were long overdue. But with the line not yet
completed from Cumberiand to Wheeling, capital to make the improvements was limited. There

%% Caplinger, Bridges Over Time, 34; Stover, History of the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad, (Purdue University Press,
West Lafayette, Indiana, 1987), 54.

*! Stover, History of the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad, 61.
22 Stover, History of the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad, 57.

* Harwood, Impossible Challenge, 46.
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were those within the company, including Benjamin Latrobe (now the Chief Engineer), who
advocated immediate and permanent solutions to the continuing irritations. The company,
however, elected to spread out its improvements over a period of years, prioritizing the jobs and
tackling the most serious ones first.”* In 1845, Latrobe and his engineering crews were detailed
to study the railroad's physical condition between Harpers Ferry and Baltimore. On the issue of
track reconstruction he wrote:

I cannot but reiterate the expression of my fears that this track will
absolutely go down under the weight of this increased trade.
Already it is carrying three or four times the trade of any similarly
constructed track in the country, and the iron, which has borne up
well under 15 years hard use, 1s now beginning to break up...The
velocity with which trains are obliged to pass over it also creates
risks which, although happily productive thus far of few disasters,
are not a little to be dreaded... Without such reconstruction, it will
hardly be possible, at any expense, to maintain the road under this
augmented trade.”

The alignment at Harpers Ferry, its wooden bridge with sharp curves at both approaches, was
particularly worrisome. Wendell Bollman, who was responsible for maintenance as B&O's
Master of Road, desperately wanted to replace the timber bridge at Harpers Ferry using a new
iron truss system of his own design. In 1851 the so-called "Winchester Span"—the portion
carrying the W&P connection and the highway—was reconstructed with iron trusses supported
by granite towers.”® The patchwork repairs continued on portions of the main line, but the
awkward layout at Harpers Ferry remained. Other projects kept taking precedence.

The alignment of the B&O Railroad as it passed through Harpers Ferry, though inefficient and
even somewhat dangerous, proved to be a durable one. Even after repeated destruction and
multiple rebuildings during the Civil War and abandonment of the armory afterward, subsequent
bridges built at the crossing followed this same layout. Unfortunately, however, the design
actually hindered efficient railroading operations at Harpers Ferry for years to come. A few
minor improvements were made as finances allowed, but the tight curves continued to be a real
operating burden for the railroad. Finally, after nearly sixty-five years, the railroad abandoned

its stopgap measures and in 1892 decided to address the problems. In the end, a virtually brand
new railroad was built at Harpers Ferry.

| * Harwood, Impossible Challenge, 46.

* As quoted in Dilts, The Great Road, 310.

% Stinson, "The First Railroad Bridge," 19.
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PART TWO: The 1892-94 Improvements and Construction of the Harpers Ferry Station

The "New" B&O Railroad at Harpers Ferry

In the summer of 1892 the B&O began work at Harpers Ferry on a major improvement project
that had been contemplated for some time. The project was designed to ease the operating
problems long experienced at this important point on the main line. The B&O's bridge across the
Potomac had become obsolete and dangerous in the face of ever increasing locomotive weights
and trainloads. The serpentine nature of the tracks at both approaches to the bridge was also a
serious problem. The evolving design of locomotives, in which the wheelbases were becoming
more and more rigid, made these curves increasingly difficult to negotiate. Having faced these
problems for several decades and only finding them worsening, the B&O was forced to
formulate a plan of action. The plan for improvements at Harpers Ferry had several components
that, when completed two years later, would cause the greatest physical change in the town's
appearance since the dramatic days of the Civil War.

The principal components of the plan for the Harpers Ferry improvements were the construction
of a tunnel through Maryland Heights; the replacement of the old bridge with a modern double-
track steel bridge; the realignment of the road bed to run through the armory grounds on top of a
20" high embankment; and the erection of a new company-owned passenger station. B&O Chief
Engineer William Lee Sisson prepared most of the tunnel, grade, and alignment changes and
supervised much of the work. E. Francis Baldwin, the B&Q's principal architect, designed the
passenger station.

The Maryland Heights Tunnel

For over fifty years the B&O had been troubled by the lack of space at the base of Maryland
Heights. The lack of space was due to the presence of a turnpike road and the C&O Canal, both
running side by side with the railroad. The imposing cliffs of Maryland Heights and a bend in
the river had prevented the railroad from designing a gradual curve of the tracks onto the bridge.
To improve the situation the B&O contracted with Jones and Thorne & Company of Baltimore
to bore an 815' long two-track tunnel through the base of the mountain in 1892.%

The nearly vertical rock face of Maryland Heights prevented the engineers from conducting a
standard survey across the mountain to correctly align the tunnel, so the method of mathematical
triangulation had to be employed. Survey lines were projected around the base of the mountain
from which angles and distances were carefully measured to a point on the center line of the
tunnel on the east side. Workers then began drilling through the rock at both ends

*7 Spirit of Jefferson, 3 January 1893, p3c4.
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simultuncously using drills supplicd by & steam-powered air compressor. In drilling the tnrel,
first a small hole about 7* in dinmeter called a "heading” was made. The heading would later
tarm the top section of the tunnel. As soon ax the headings were fiar enough advanced, allowing
room to drive the drill honzontally, work on the "benchies” or lower part of the rock was begun
In this way larger masses of rock could be blasted out. This was slow work; crews advanced
only aboul 18" per week. Begun in December 1892, the sound of dynumite explosions soon
became common. By January the Spirir of Jefferson reported that the flock of wild gonts living
on Maryland Heights, which at first was spooked hy the bladts, had become aceustomed 1o the
noise.™ When the headings met in the middle in July 1893, they were just 4" out of line.
Consideted a feat of engineering in s day, the distance measured through the tunnel upon
completion was 2 4" less (han originally culoulated,

Aller completing the excavation of the tunnel, the rock was stuble enough to support itself.
Warkers lined 80" a8 the west end and 45" at the cast end with limestone masonry walls and a
brick arch roaf. A1 first the compuany
constrcted limestone portdls on both ends of
the tunnel, but the deep approach cuts o
either end of the lunnel caused immediate
problems and new portals had o be bult
The steep cuts posed n safety hnzard from
above, a8 rocks lling from the ¢hifls were
dangerous to emplovees and threatened to
block the tracks  Taremedy the situation, in
296 construction workers extended the liming
of the runnel over 30" on ench end and added
sufficient covenng over the arch to shield 1
from falling debris, New brick portals were
also budlt (Figure 9). This lengthened the — e AN
tunnel to 885", The tuinel, oriented on nearly ”#:1": ‘lh '-";"tfﬂm-;.; LS w.;h thy mi'd::;i'}u c?.r'-':;.e‘cl.
— : W the HMarpers Feriy temnel olimingted the sighe
:‘;::;ﬁ;&ﬁﬁ‘;:;ﬂ::‘;ﬂ?:‘:}:ﬁl at the :l:.ln"r fim nlee .'ll.fnfum.f wited af the brdee. (NPS p;:,m__j
¢ast end of the bridge.

The {894 Brudge

Another mujor element of the improvements wis the new double-track bridge across the
Potomac River, located just upsiream from the old Bollman bridge. Long overdue, a more
modern, rugged bridge was required to handle the larger engines and frainloads pounding over
the line. First the B&O purchased the Wager lot, a piece of land in the commercial area on the

* Spirit of Seffer=ton; 3 Junury 1893, pled
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Harpers Ferry shore where a new abutment was built. Next, an abutment was built on the
Maryland riverbank and cables were stretched from shore to shore. The cables allowed
construction crews to lower stones into the river that were used in building the bridge's masonry
piers. Eight piers were constructed of local "Gettysburg Granite" and set on solid bedrock. The
Penncoyd Bridge and Construction Company of Philadelphia fabricated the steelwork of the
bridge's superstructure. James McLean was contracted for the trestle work, in which about
500,000 feet of lumber were required.”

The bridge builders experienced a setback in November 1893 when a shipment of construction
materials was sunk during a storm on the Great Lakes, but the new B&O bridge was opened for
traffic on April 12, 1894 (Figure 10).*° Its nine steel spans were a combination of six deck plate-
girder spans and three Pratt through trusses.” Not only was the bridge designed to handle the
heaviest loads of the day, it was also located on a better alignment. The new bridge was between
8 to 11" higher than the old bridge. This not only provided a better gradient, but also made the
bridge less vulnerable to floods. The Harpers Ferry end of the 1894 bridge still resembled
Latrobe's design of sixty years earlier, but the design incorporated a better junction to the Valley
Branch (the former W&P line running along the Shenandoah River). Whereas the old bridge
formed a 'Y' with the Valley Branch going straight across and the main line branching off, the
new design reversed the order. With the new design, the junction remained over the river, but
now the main line remained on a tangent and the Valley Branch curved to meet it (Figure 11).
Though not particularly long or massive, the new bridge represented state-of-the-art engineering
in the 1890s. Still in use today, the bridge has been called an excellent representative of steel,
pin-connected trusses and standardized bridge design of the period.

Realignment of the Tracks

The U.S. government's abandonment of the armory grounds after the Civil War made the
realignment of the tracks in Harpers Ferry possible. Since the mid-1850s the B&O was forced to
run its trains along an iron trestle mounted on top of the stone river wall. The trestle and right-
of-way extended 20' into the armory yard from the river wall.*? In 1892 the B&O finally
purchased a new right-of-way through the armory grounds from owner Thomas E. Savery.
Armed with a new right-of-way that was considerably more inland, the railroad was free to
abandon its original layout along the river wall (Figure 12). Instead they chose to run the tracks
through the former armory grounds on top of a 20" high stone and earthen embankment.

* Spirit of Jefferson, 29 August 1893, p2c3.
* Virginia Free Press, 11 August 1893, p3c4.
*! Caplinger, Bridges Over Time, 62.

32 Snell, "Town of Harpers Ferry," 7.
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Figure 18, The new retilrond bridge, seon here st Teft, was & contral campanent
of the | 89794 improvementy: (NP phows )

Figure 1. 1394 pbwiion adiere dg Ut rpaligoed fumeiiion of te Valley Braogh ..mn"_
muste line. The arw deipn Lepy the suils liee o o ddnpenl ekl the Valley
Srweh seen beve op the [0f], carved o el 1 (NPS phoito )
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Figure T2, The ubandonment of the armiry grineeds after the Civil War made the eeaiipnmicnt of the rdailvoid
posaibile. The wew mecen e, budln arop o 20° bigh rubblie embankmenr, greatly roduoed the carviture of the ireaeks.
Ihe alil armiery deesile wan sid] e gl witen ties ploto wey el e TS0, INPS glioto,

By sweeping the tracks broadly around on the town side mther than the nver side of the old
armary grounds, the result was o much gentler um coming ofT the new bridpe, This was 3 gresl
improvement to what hid been one of the tightest curves on the B&O's muin line. With the need
for the elevated trestle thus ehiminated, 1the wood planking, ties, and nnls were removed as wis a
smull bndge spanning the armory boatway. The wron framework of the trestle remained in place
until around 1898, A small scetion of the old tracks was mamtained as an industrial siding. The
suding served Savery's pulp mill located a1 the end of the former urmory grounds

Another facet of the realignment was the modification of a small tunnel just west of the Savery’s
mill and the armory grounds, Construction crews out into the mountainside and converted the
tuntiel into an open cut. The hillside cuts, some of which were BO' deep, produced nearly 50,000
cubic yards of dirt and stone rubble. The resulting rubble was used 10 build the embankment
across (he grmuory grounds upon which (he new track alignment wis sét. Rubble from the
Marviand Heights turmel excavation and from the construction of the new bridige piers was also

" See ULS, Departroent of the Interioe, Histork American Enginsering Record (HAER), No. WV-A1, "Potomas
Power Plunt™ 1995, Priags anil Photographs Divishon, Libirary of Congress, Wishington, PLC for ihe history of
Savery'y mill
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usad for that purpose. Chief Enginger Sisson calculated that, when broken up inte smiller
pieces. the volume of the rubble actunlly increased by 80 percent ™

The new embankment necessitited the removal of a cluster of structures from the old Ferry Lot
at the Harpers Ferry end of the new bndge.™ Notnble among these buildings was the Polomac
House restaurant, & three-story tavern/hotel thal had served as the BRO's pussénger stution since
the Civil War. On the river side of this building was a large two-story frame porch that opencd
directly onto the rallroad plitform. The B&O's tramns stopped a1 the Potomac House regularly 1o
permit the passengers to dine (Figure 13). The new alignment would ulso have required the

= et — -
Figure 13, The Potiomune Houve evstaiirant. the three-ators whine fllding it left of conter. semved as the 840
prassemger statiom at Harpees Fecty for vatry Plonwred heve ca, (883, 1 wa gomm doowm 1o el wan Jor the mow
swisgromont throwgh the armory growmds. (NPS photo )

removal of "John Brown's Fort,” the old sarmory fire engine house made famous in the 1859 raid
The only building that remaimed in the armory vard, it had just recently been dismantied and
shipped (by B&O rail) o Chicago in time for the 1893 Werld's Columbian Exposition,

Severnl changes in the streets and roads were required by the improvements.  The county road
that ran along the Maryland side from a point near Sandy Hock, parallel with the rmilroad fracks,
was changed 16 ¢ross above grade at the ¢ast end of the tannel and below grade at the west end.
In dotni this, the road was raised 35" ot the east end mnd was cut down 5 al the west end of the
tunnel. Potomac Street in Harpers Ferry, which runs parallel with the river, was raised 4' for #

* Willism Lz« Sisaem '“I.rpt.'n Ferry mprovement ™ Trpegetivns of the dmerican Society of Civil Enginvens,
Vol XXX, Ocmber | 804 353

? Giltsert. "Colrural Lendscapo Repon.® 393
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distance of about 8007 The lower end of the streel was redligned 1o pass diagonally under & new
overpass constructed us pan of the realignment of the Valley Branch approach to the bridge.

Amd because the nowly created embankment blocked drainage of water from downtown Harpers
Ferry, it was necessury for the BRO (o construct & 186" long drarmage culvert near the east end of
Shenundoah Street (Figure 14),

‘,hﬂ'
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et it
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Figure 14, Ca 806 wiow of the Shemcandinh Steeod dviinage culveri  The BROY twn recllfeiad sbatiin ety on
g of the embimlmeni (0 e hoickgroowsd  (INPS pheo )

Harpers Ferrv's New Ratlroad Station

Overall, the series of improvements in 1892-94 dramatically altered the appetrance of Hampers
Ferry and gave the town ils current sireet layoul. Of all of the B&O improvements. the one thal
most excited town residents was the construction of 4 new passenger station. When it became
clear that the old Potomac House woitld be tom down for being an the path of the newly designed
main line, townspeople realized that a new station must be buill, Rumors mitially placed the new
station somewhere near Savery's pulp mill at the north end of the ammory yard, but il was fnually
confirmed that it would instead occupy a site in the angle formed by the new junction of the main
line and the Valley Branch.™ The Baltimare Sun reported, "the old station will be tom away and

* Spbeit ol Seffraon, 16 August 1892, p2ed
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4 new stone station of handsome architectural design will replace ™" Other writers predicted
the depor would be “handsome. convenient. & roomy” und a “fine, commodious” building.™ But
despite all oF the eager speculation on (he appearance of the [Uture station, the lact was thit pod
ane really knew what the new station wonld look hike. All that could be hoped for was a station
thar matched the town'’s perception of itsell as a gateway for lourists and truvelers and an
important junction on the railrosd's muin line.

E. Francis Baldwin, "Architect for the B&O"

Architect E, Francis Baldwin (1837-1916) designed

the Harpers Ferry train station {Figure 15). Though ———
not formally trained at o umiversity, Baldwin leamed
architecture in Baltimore as & draftsman and
apprentice in the offices of Niernsee & Nielson duning
the 18608, Ultimately his carcer spanned Hlly vears,
penods of which he worked with partners and
practiced on his own, Employed by a diverse
cliemtele, Baldwin designed many types of buildings
mncluding churches. banks. office buildings and
warehouses, rallrond stations, hotels, mumicipal and
public buildings, hospitals. schools, clubs, and
residences. Though the greatest concentration of his
work wis in and armund Baltimore, his buildings could
be found from New York to Olno, from Pommsylvania
tn Georgin.™ Baldwin was o deeply religious man anyd
he took & special interest in ecclesiastical works. In
fact, one of his two biggest clients was the Roman Figure {3 £ Framciv Balitwn
Catholic Churgh, He received o distingiuished awand

from Pope Leo X1 for his designs of buildings at

Catholic University in Washington, D.C.

" Sprir oy Jefferson, 29 August 1591, p2:3
® Sprivlt of Sefferson, 20 Seprember 1892, p1c3; 37 June 1591, pict

* About 500 buldings or design projects hiave been identified us the work of Buldwin or Baldwim snd hin sisociatos
Abowt eighity percent of these were I Muryland. Ax of 1991, approximately oneahind were extunt. Prioe to
designinge tie Hurpers Ferry tailroad station. at lesst two of Baldwan's works wese budlt in niesrby Charles Town
Weal Viegmin: T 1878 be devised plans for the correction of the faulty scoustics of the courtrooin st the Jefferanm
County Courthouse (For details sée Firginla Free Press, T September 1ET8, pIcd). Luter, i 1892, Buldwin and a
partnet destpned The ghly acclaimed Howl Powhatn (Fot detadds see Sparas of Sefferson, 12 July 1892, plel).
Aftet 4 brief petioil, the Powhatan came  be Knowil as Wormlbey's Tnne to 1901 it was 20ld snd 1eopened as
Powhatan Female College. Tn 1914 the boiidmg was renamed 31 Hildo's Gils School. Tt berned down i 1937
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Baldwin's ather major client was the B&O Ratlrond. His career with the B&O began around
1872 when he was hired by compuany president John W, Garrett and designated the *Architect for
the B&O Railroad." Some of Baldwin's first works for the company were built on the newly
created Metropolitan Branch ling, 8 railroad that ran from Washington, D.C. to the old main Hne
a Point of Rocks, Although it is not known for certain, the notable Baltimore architect is
suspecied to have supervised the B&O's construction of the disunctive, Gothic-siyle Rockville
stition in 1873, One of his most fiamous works, the omate Point of Rocks passenger station,
was designed in 1875, It has been described as “the zenith of Railroad Gothic™ architecture
(Figure 16)."

In 1583 Baldwin formed a parinership with his former drafisman Josias Peninngion. They
collabarted on designs untl Baldwin's death in 1916, Taogether they designed several
prominent B&O buildings in downtown Baltimare, including the company's ostemtations
headquarters building, the Camden Yards Warelouse, and the Mount Clare Roundhouse.™ In the
1880 Buldwin designed several distinctive passenger stations for the B&O's Washington Brasch

1S Deparurent of the Imenor, Huwns Amencan Hidings Survay . No. MID-218, “B&O Rusdlroad Ststion and
Frowght Howe. Rockvlle. Marviond ™ 1977, (Pans and Fhowographs Division, Lihars of Congress. Wasshmgon
e |

Y Harwood, Impeassifile Challenge, 429

' Histerric Amertcan Bulldmes Survey, Noo MD<228, 1
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line. His stutions at Laurel and Hyattsville, both built in 1884, were omate and substuntial brick
buldimngs (Figure 17).°

Balidwin's butldings, especially those of the 1870 and 18805, incomonited charactenstics
reflecting the eclectic Queen Anne and Gothic Revival sivles of architeciure. Hallmarke of these
Victlorian-ors styles thist oflen appeared in his works include lowers; steep gabled roofs; large
wooden support brackets: bay and onel windows: and colored glass window accents, His
passenger station designs were distinetive and picturesque, and though many bad similar Moor
pluns and served the same basic fundtion, no two were exactly alike Baldwin's career as BRO's
principal architect lasted until around 1900, Table 1 provides a list of extant B&O butldings
attributed to Baldwin..

B&Q Passensrer Stations and Stndardization (n the 1890

In the 1890s Baldwin's new passenger stations begnn to reflect the BEO's growing financial
problems, The company was struggling to remain solvent and attention shifted away from
architectural concerns, Major improvements to the line, like the umnel and bridge ut Harpers
Ferry, were costly and left the BRO fewer financial resources 1o channel towards elsboralely
desygned stations. Other expensive undertakmes of the period included the completion of the
B&O's Baltmore to Philadelphia ling and the modermization of 1 terminals and shipyards in
Bahimore and Chicago ™ The railroud labor strikes, the nation-wide economic panic of 1893,
and the ensuing depression all coniributed to the B&O's problems. The incressingly cash-
strapped railroad lost interest in fancy designs and, as o result, many of the stations erected along

" U8, Department of the Interor, Hmone Amencan Buildings Survey, No. MD-973, “Baltimore & Ol Ratfroad
Stanon, Liwred, Marpland,” 1990, (Prints and Photogmpte Phvison, Litwary of Congness, Washigion, TLCH &

" Swover, Mistory of the Baltiimore and Ohip Ratlroad, 16566 17476
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Table 1. Extant B&O Buildings Attributed to E. Francis Baldwin.

(*from a list compiled by Carlos P. Avery, with additions by Herbert Harwood, Jr. and John P. Hankey)

YEAR

1873
1875
1875
1876
1876-82
1876

1882
1883
1884
1884
1884
1884
1884
1884
1884
1885
1885
1891
1891
1891
1891-92
1892
1892
1892
1892
1893
1893
1894
1896
1896
1898-1905
no date

LOCATION

Rockville
Point of Rocks
Keyser
Martinsburg
Mt. Airy
Brosius
(Hancock)
Paw Paw
Lexington
Mt Clare
Sykesville
Laurel
Morgantown
Gaithersburg
Rockville

Mountain Lake Park

Ellicott City
Qakland
Kensington
Germantown
Dickerson
Frederick
Brunswick
Washington
Weston
Winchester
Quicksburg
West Newton
Harpers Ferry
Baltimore
Baltimore
Baltimore
Zanesville

STATE

MD
MD
WV
WV
MD
MD

WV
VA
MD
MD
MD

WV

MD
MD
MD
MD
MD
MD
MD
MD
MD
MD
PA

WV
VA

VA

PA

WV
MD
MD
MD
OH

STRUCTURE

Passenger Station

Passenger Station (Reconstruction)
Passenger Station

Passenger Station Addition?
Passenger Station

Passenger Station

Passenger Station

Passenger Station

Passenger Car Shop

Passenger Station

Passenger Station

Passenger Station

Passenger Station and Freight House
Freight House

Passenger Station

Freight House

Passenger Station

Passenger Station

Passenger Station (Reconstruction)
Passenger Station (Reconstruction)
Passenger Station Addition
Passenger Station

Passenger Station

Passenger Station

Passenger Station

Passenger Station

Passenger Station

Passenger Station

Hendersons Wharf Warehouse

Mt Royal Station

Camden Warehouse

Freight House

its lines during the 1890s were smaller and lacked the decorative embellishments of the earlier

:*frri": MY O
OLLALLVILL O,

Baldwin responded to the company's financial constraints by both reducing the scale of his
designs and moving towards standardized station plans. Simply put, both strategies saved his
client money. Rather than produce the more costly two-story brick structures characteristic of
his earlier designs, Baldwin displayed his architectural flexibility by designing much more
modest single-story frame buildings. The designs for the stations at Kensington (1891),
Landsdowne (1892), and Brunswick (1892), all of which share certain design elements with the
Harpers Ferry station, are typical of his smaller stations of the period (Figure 18).
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Atiother result of the B&LOS frugality inthe 1890s wus Baldwin's development of & standardized
pattern for passenger stations. The benefit of standardization was that stations could be
reproduced cheaply with shight vanations st multple locations, Several rural and suburbin
towns in Maryland received these stundurdized Baldwin stations, including the ones at
Landsdowne, S1. Dems, and Morgan.*' Dunng the first few years of the twenticth contury.
standardization of B&O structures became even more commonplace. Not only did the practice
encompass passenger stations, but it also extended to wailing shelters, signage, and trackside
equipment such as lamp posts. To illustrate the extent thar standsrdizanon occurred, inis
mieresting o note that & 1919 survey of B&O properties states that, with a few exceptions, the
Harpers Ferry station Is "similar to [building] Type W-."* The rlroad's use of standandized
pluns wus nol 4 new phenomenon though. As far back as 1867, milroads had begun
standardizing everything from locomotive parts 1o the ingredients used in dining cars.*

While Baldwin's use of standandized plans may have been encouraged by the B&OY's finuncial
health, such standardized stations can also be viewed as a product of the late nineteenth-century
mdusirial age. For the first time, mlorchangeable pirts and machine-sawn wood dllowed railroad
companies a quick and inexpensive way to erect depots. Most raflroads had stock blucprints for
stations, with several different styles m perhups three sizes cach. The bluepnnt was then wilored
to fit @ particdlar location’s importance, its physical lundform, and amount ol traffic. The
company's "bridge and buildings” crews easily constructed such plans, in some cases using
modular parts. By making only slight modificanons 1o the stundand design, the compuny avoided
menotanous duplication [or tnivelers and satisfied Jocal desire for s unique depot. For only a
hittie extra money, distinctive differences could be made 1o a structure. . The vse of omamental
extras —mol bracketing, the addition of a finial, or fancy tnmwork — were common und
inexpensive wivs 1o alter a stoek blueprin,

* Harwood. dmpossibly Chatlenge. 128

* huterstate Commmeree Conunission, " Engisess Figld Notes o 10T Pusties Sveving the Physical Property nf
Risilrogats 101479207 [Ballinwwe and Qo Ballooad, Beeurd Group |34, Vol 61, Natioss] Archives and Beconds
Adminierrptinn, Natiom] Arelives g Collepe Park, MDY 1,

 Pone, Grear Amerscan Rayiroad Sanon;, ||
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Also, railroad companies were not oblivious to the benefits of standardization. By repeating
certain design elements, they promoted an identity and distinguished their own stations from
those of other companies. This purposeful repetition of architectural forms, or logotyping, can
be considered one of the earliest examples of corporate identity campaigns.* For example, the
standard depot of one company was easily recognizable by its beveled agent's window with a
gabled dormer. Modern-day fast food businesses and advertisers know the value of the type of
visual consistency that was practiced by the railroads.

Consistently applied paint schemes were used for the same effect. The early standard color
scheme used along B&O lines was brown and "Indian red." In some locations this combination
of colors was used until the late 1940s. From the 1940s on, the most frequently used paint colors
were combinations of cream and black or cream and brown.*” In this scheme, the trim was
painted black or brown. A royal blue and gold leaf color scheme was used for some of the
company's signage, but there is no evidence that it was employed at Harpers Ferry.” A
passenger on the B&O instantly recognized B&O properties by the familiar paint scheme. By
utilizing repetitive architectural forms and adopting a corporate paint scheme, the B&O hoped to
foster feelings of trust, dependability, and familiarity among its customers.

Description of the Harpers Ferry Station

Although Baldwin's original building design drawings for the Harpers Ferry station do not
survive, the plans are described in the March 24, 1894 edition of the Virginia Free Press. It
states, "the new depot building is to be about sixty feet in length, with two twenty by twenty feet
waiting rooms, agents' office, ticket office, and freight office. It will be a wooden structure
costing $8,000. New platforms are being constructed with 80,000 feet of lumber.™"
Construction crews began work on the wood-frame station in the summer. On August 14™ the
Spirit of Jefferson noted this activity and reported, "Work is in progress on the new B&O
Railroad depot."* When the station was finished in the fall of 1894, the Virginia Free Press

* Potter, Great American Railroad Stations, 12.

* "Sprucing Up the Right-of-Way." Baltimore and Ohio Magazine, April 1946. Reprinted in Sentinel, July-August
1985. (Baltimore and Ohio Railroad Historical Society, Baltimore, Maryland, 1946), 11.

* Baltimore and Ohio Railroad, Standard Plans for Maintenance of Way and Construction. (Akron Railroad Club,
Inc., Akron, Ohio, 1977), 68-69.

>! Virginia Free Press, 21 March 1894, p2c5; Other information on the station during this period, where not
specifically cited, is derived from a ca. 1916 floor plan, a 1919 Interstate Commerce Commission valuation survey
(see Appendix IV), Sanborn Fire Insurance maps (see Appendix VI), and photographs.

2 Spirit of Jefferson, 14 August 1894, p3cl.
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called it "well planmed and neatly fumished "™ The dimensions of the building. howeser, at 101"
x 21' were larger than the newspaper's initial report.  Situated on the large open platform formed
by the curve of the new track alignment, the station became the focal point @ the eastern end of
Shenandoah Street

Except for a distinctive two-story lower, it was a mther plain building (Figure 19). The shition's
tower and its slate-covered, hipped roof were its visually dorminant features. The roof covenng
the single-story portion of the station was low pitched and imterrupted anly by two hupped
dormers, one on cach side of the building. The dormers each had three small windows with
dismond-shaped gloss panps. The ower had u pyramidal rool (also slate-covered) wath a shightly
steeper pitch. The slates, light gray in color, were hung in & staggered shingle pattern. Pole
gutters furmeled water from the roof into box-protected downspouts all swwound the building. A
pumber of large decorative brackets beneath the overhang al€o tended to emphasize the roof,

The walls were coverad with horizontal ¢lapbourd siding and painted. A 1913 newspaper ilem

Hpur:.ﬂl 1950 piote af tho Farpers Ferry maen asatieey, The fo-stery ogmal soeer s sasily 8 mond
dhanective feamre  (NPS phati g

" ¥ irgind Free Press, 6 Febmary 1895, plel
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states a "force of painters are refreshing the station and accompanying buildings with standard
B&O red and brown." In 1929 it was reported that the "B&O station at Harpers Ferry has been
greatly improved by being painted on the inside. The colors are soft shades of cream and tan."*

On the east end of the station was the two-story signal tower (Figure 20). A brick chimney with
a flared top was built flush with the edge of the roofline on the west side of the tower. In 1900 a
new interlocking switch system was installed for the Valley Branch junction. From that point on
trains were controlled from the upper story of the tower.” Prior to that, the switching mechanism
was operated manually. Entrance to the tower from the outside was initially gained through a
door located on the southeast corner of the first floor. Though no documentation has been found,
it can be assumed that interior stairs or a ladder led to the upper reaches of the tower. Later,
around 1900, exterior stairs were added on the east side that wrapped around the tower,
providing access to the upper story through a door on the south side (Figure 21). Photographs of
the station around 1910 show a semaphore bracketed on the main line (north) side of the tower
(Figure 22). Block tower signs with the telegraph call letters "HF" hung on the east and west
sides of the tower. In addition, a station-identifying sign of "Harper's Ferry" hung on the east

face of the tower.
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Figure 20. Ca. 1916 floor plan of Harpers Ferry station.

In the nterior, about one-third of the tower's lower story was taken up by the women's restroom,
though the restroom was accessible only through the adjacent waiting room. The remainder of
the tower's lower story presumably housed apparatus related to switching functions. One news

account refers to the tower as the "telegraph tower," though it is not clear where the equipment
was housed. *

** Spirit of Jefferson, 20 July 1915, pdc1; 16 May 1929, plcl.
> Spirit of Jefferson, 20 November 1900, p2c2.

° Farmer's Advocate, 20 February 1915, p2c2.
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Figurd 21. Exnivrior wtalrs weri Flgure 22 T 1910 view of sonwer: end
196N Howry Freemon colleciiom ) semnpephore. iHenry Freamo collecsion

Designed m u time when society deemied it proper 1o shield women from the more vulgar male
populition, the station had two waiting rooms—one for cach gender, The waiting rooms were
located on either side of the ucket sgent's office and were connceted to cach other by a short
hallway on the south side ol the station, The waiting rooms had high mansard ceilings supported
on exposed chamfered mfiers. A wood cormee and baseboards provided additional
omamentation. The women's wuiting room boasted 2 harge hrick fire hox which prohably housed
i coul-buming stove (Figure 23), Each of the waiting rooms had a bathroom and esch bathroom
had two toilets and a sink. The women's bathroom, us neted above. was incorporated into the
first floor of the signal tower. The men's bathmom projected from the south faigade (Figure 24),
In general, waiting rooms m small town staitons like Harpers Ferry were furmished with pew-like
betiches hining the wills or set back o back in the roam’'s center,

Near the center of the station was the ticket agent’s office. Tymcally, the agent ot o combination
freght and passenger station such as Huarpers Ferry was responsible for numerouns duties.

Among tus specific dutics wore seiling tickets to passengers, opermting the telegraph, announcing
tram departures and mrrivals, stoking the heat stoves, washing windows, repairing (ools, and
picking up mail deliveries, In the midst of this already hectic job, the agent also filled the critical
role of "operator.” The operator was a pivotal figure who controlled train movemems. He
uotified approaching train crews whether ingiructions or freight were awaiting by shifting.
indicators on a lighted semaphore known as the "order board,*
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Al the Harpers Ferry station, the ticket agent's office had 2 bay window, allowing the
agent/operator o clear view up and down the mam line tracks and platform. The room had &
dropped ceiling with stiie space overhead. The tickel office was scvessible by doors from both
the men's and women's waiting rooms. The room ulso had two ticket windows and counters, one
that opened into cach waitmg room.

The freight section of the station, Jocated at the west end of the building, consisted of' a bagzage
room and an express room.  There wagons and teams of horses (and later motor vehicles) pulled
up-to the statian 1o load and unload their carge, Cants were used (o help move the larger lowds
(Figure 25). Both the baggnge and express rooms had two sets of double doors thut opened
imward,

e

™ il

_—

colfoetion )

Though hitie documentary evidence exists about the appearance of the station’s inlertor, an early
floor plan shows that the baggage room was partitioned into twa spaces, & hallway spaoning the
width of the stiution (presumably for the mgress and egress of passenger’s retneving their
baggage) and a larger storage ared. An mventory of the property states that o large oval tub
requiring floor suppon was located somewhere in (he baggage roon). The open-topped tuh was
constructed of while pme staves and wroughi mon strups. lis function is not identified thongh 3
note indicates that the capacity of the tub was approximately 4000 gallons, Pessible uses include
a supply lunk for the station's plumbing or storage of water for steam powered trains. The
wventory also stares that the wib dates 10 the vear the station was onginally constructed. 1t has
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been pointed out that a tub this size would take up much of the available space in the baggage
room and it has been suggested that it may have been stored in the attic above the baggage room.

After 1916 the express room was also partitioned. That was the year the B&O removed all its
outside buildings with the exception of a freight storage house. An advertisement in the
Farmer's Advocate related to these improvements stated, "Edward Fossett's Traveling Express
Agent Office will be in the main building hereafter."”” When moved inside, the express agent's
office occupied the northeast corner of the room, taking up approximately one-quarter of the
entire space. The office was utilized for the obvious clerical duties involved with the freight and,
more likely than not, contained a large scale. Due to their utilitarian function, freight spaces in
most stations were typically left unfinished, or at best had wainscoting to protect the walls from
damage by carts or shifting cargo. The freight space at the Harpers Ferry station, however, with
vertical bead board from floor to ceiling, was an exception to this general rule. The windows of
the express room were covered with diamond mesh guards. A sign identifying the station as
"Harper's Ferry," 1dentical to the one on the tower, hung on the exterior (west) wall of the
€XPress room.

The Westbound Waiting Shelter and the "Subway for Safety”

In October 1898 a three-sided wooden waiting shed was erected on the north side of the tracks
for the benefit of westbound passengers.™ As depicted on a 1902 Sanborn Fire Insurance map,
the shed was located directly across the tracks from the freight section (west end) of the station
building. The shed was enlarged in 1910 by a 20' addition on its east end and covered with a
metal roof. The addition resulted in a small area that was totally enclosed (Figure 26). This
enclosed area was referred to as a "winter room."” As this name implies, the purpose of the
addition was to provide additional shelter against the elements. Photographs show a vent pipe
projecting through the waiting shelter roof, indicating the presence of a coal or woodburning
stove.

Passengers arriving at Harpers Ferry on eastbound trains and those catching westbound trains
were required to walk across the tracks. This was a severe safety hazard, as lines of sight at the
crossing were poor in both directions due to the curve in the tracks. In addition, train traffic
through Harpers Ferry was very high in the early 1900s. For example, in 1912 at least twenty-
eight passenger trains and unnumbered freight trains passed the station daily.* People were

> Farmer's Advocate, 28 October 1916, p2c3.
** Spirit of Jefferson, 11 October 1898, p3c3.
* Farmer's Advocate, 15 October 1910, p2c3.

* Farmer's Advocate, 31 August 1912, p2cl.
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Killed every vear going to or from the station and waiting shelter. Local newspapers ran stories
refemng to "the killing of peopie by B&O traims" and editors called for somethmg to be done to
"alieviate the death rap” that existed at the Harpers Ferry station,”  The B&O responded with a
pluan 1o construet an umiurumultd pussageway connecting the station and the waiting shed, The
rallroad also decided to-erect a O long iron fence between the tracks so thai all passengers
would be required lo use the subway and avoud dange

Plans for the subway were drown op in September 1912, 1t was to be construcied of conerete, T
wide, 8' high, and 70" long (Figure 27). A contract 1o build (he subway was awarded 1o Edward
Brady & Sons of Baltimore in February and work commenced in Apnl wider foreman R J. Raft
The subway, when comploted i Jutie 1913, was reported 1o be "well lighted ut night by
electricity, hut requires the light of one lamp dunng the day.” On the shelter side of the tracks
the subway surfaced on the north side of the sheller and was prolected by g new shed addition
Mough it was initially planned to open into the women's waiting room, the new sitbway was
accessed on the station side by starways leading down from the men's waiting room. This

Farmers dghwwiate. 3] "I-Ll';.'il'.'. 1917 p2cly | '.-'_L"-ll"-' Friow Prewy, 13 February 1915 |:"'|' \:1""" oLy flirean 3
Jaroats 1915, pdeh
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Figure 27. A concrete subway was built in 1913 to improve safety conditions at the busy station. (B&O Railroad
Museum.)

modification to the station required a new partition between the waiting room and the baggage
room.*

The addition of the subway to the Harpers Ferry station was part of a larger "Safety First"
movement started by the B&O in 1911. General safety committees were formed on each
division of the railroad and the theme was stressed in a newly created magazine for employees.
In 1912 the railroad announced it would spend $2.5 million on infrastructure and safety
improvements between Brunswick and Harpers Ferry.®® Plans were even drawn up for a brand
new passenger station to be built in a Renaissance Revival-type of style.* For reasons unknown,
the proposed new station was never built and much of the money was dedicated to safety-related
improvements. Drastic reductions in the numbers of deaths and injuries due to accidents over the
next decade clearly indicated the success of the B&O's emphasis on safety. The improved safety
record also had beneficial financial results for the company. The funds paid out to cover death
and disablement benefits, for example, were cut by more than half.®

%2 For subway construction details see: "Subways for Safety", Baltimore and Ohio Employees Magazine, Volume 1,
No. 8, October 1912, 10; Spirit of Jefferson, 11 February 1913, p3c2; Virginia Free Press, 13 February 1913, plc4;
Farmer's Advocate, 22 March 1913, p2¢5; 5 April 1913, p2¢2; 7 June 1913, p3¢2; and 5 August 1916, p2c4.

** Virginia Free Press, 2 May 1912, p5c4.
* See Appendix III, Drawings of Proposed Station, 1913.

o Stover, History of the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad, 256-57.
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The addition of a number of electric lights at the Harpers Ferry station in November 1913 no
doubt reduced nighttime accidents around the station. Workers initially laid conduit piping along
the sidewalks and under the platform to establish thirteen electric lamps to light the grounds.
Twenty-one electric lights were added inside the station in January and eleven additional lamps
were placed along the platforms in May 1914.% It has not been determined if the station had
electric lights prior to 1913. In 1898 a pulp mill on the nearby armory grounds was converted to
generate electricity for the town and poles to light the town streets were erected. Many
businesses and homes in Harpers Ferry added electric lights during the first decade of the
twentieth century®’.

The Grounds Around the Depot

The depot grounds consisted of wood platforms on the north, east, and west sides of the station
and a large, flat unimproved area on the south side of the station. The south side of the station
grounds was left unpaved for several years. Then, in 1904, a 7' wide x 110' long bluestone
sidewalk was built that led to the edge of the rubble embankment on which the station sat. In
1910 the south side of the station was paved with bricks and stone curbs were added all around.
Brick paving replaced the wood platform around the west end of the station and north side of the
tracks. A wood fence ran along the edge of the depot grounds until 1913 when it was replaced
with an tron picket-style fence. The iron fence, erected by contractor J. S. Burton, ran from the
Valley Branch overpass, along the edge of the embankment, and down the station's driveway
(Figure 28).%

Travelers and pedestrians reached the station from the town either by the driveway off Potomac
Street or by one of two sets of stairs up the embankment. A set of wood stairs led to the station
from the Valley Branch side, located between the freight office and a small building "used by
track and linemen."” The other stairs were constructed of 10' wide slabs of stone and were
located near the drainage culvert on Shenandoah Street. The stone stairs connected the train
station with the town's commercial district as well as a cluster of hotels and restaurants on
Shenandoah Street that catered to tourists and travelers. Safety railings were added to the steps
in 1916. In 1916 the B&O also established a park on the grounds of the old armory yard

% Farmer's Advocate, 22 November 1913, p2c2; 17 January 1914, p2c4; and 23 May 1914, p2c3.

* See HAER, "Potomac Power Plant," for the role of Savery's mill in the production of electricity.

* Farmer's Advocate, 7 June 1913, p3c2.

® Farmer's Advocate, 30 September 1916, p2c4. The two buildings flanking the stairs were either demolished or
removed in 1916. The freight office was demolished and its functions were moved inside the station building. Also
referred to as a "depot,” the freight office probably temporarily served passengers during the construction of the
1894 depot. The other building was sold for $100 to farmer Peter Snyder of Loudoun County, Virginia and -
converted to a small shed or barn.

B I B N .

——




Baltimore & Ohio Ratlroad, Harpers Ferry Station
HAER No, WV-86
(Page 35)

% 1
L

LA Erj 1" ‘&_If

_.1._,

_l..

f‘w

M J
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franch overpass. This oz 1920 phiotograph iflistrates how the deporwal porched above the rest ol fowee town
farpers Forry. (B&0O Radiroad Hixtorieo! Sociétye s

hetween the station and the Potomac River. A walkway trom the station and concrele steps wene
canstructed 1o descend to the new park grounds. Workmen cleaned up debns anound the old
armory building foundunons and landscape gardeners established Mower beds and planted wrass
and shade trees,

Other B&O facilities and notuble features of the depot grounds reluted to the development of
Harpers Farry a8 a tounist stop,  The muilroad compuny evected a monument in 18985 to mark the
lormier location of the urmory engine house, made famous as "John Brown's Fort." The obelisk
momnument 15 losated on the side of the driveway near the edge of the embankment ereated during
the realignment of the tracks. In 1897 the federnl government also installed frve tablets here
commemorating the capture of Harpers Ferry during the Civil War (Figure 29), The John Brown
monument and the imterpretive tables were clustered in o small yrassy area so as 1o be visihle
from the train and the platfonm.

The B&O promoted Harpers Ferry as a tounst destimation and from roughly {880 to 1930, the
town was 8 regular destination and departire pomt for fumerous tourist excursion trains
Excursion trains lefit Hurpers Ferry for the short trip to nearby Martinsburg and Frederick, and
for the slightly longer trip to Winchester, Edinburg, Harmsonburg, and Staunton in the
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Figure 29, A ovmomendt meariing the forme h‘aﬂlﬁﬂ?‘.ﬁi*n BArover's et ™ st five cominemiionanive kihlets were
wrecredd am Myt gremmds oof the depet. (VRS plie)

Shenandoah Valley, Olher specinl excursion irains took lourists o und from destinations even
further aficld, to Atlanta, Philadelphin, New York City, Newark, Atluntic City, and Niagara
Fali=. Even the far-off tounst sites in Kansas City, Detrott, Omaha; and San Francisco were
connected (o Hpers Ferry by the excursion traing, Aside from beinging people to Harpers Ferry
10 see the area's tounst sites. B&O excursion trams also brought people to hold celebranions,
reuntons. political conventions, religious retreats, hiking trips, and for & whole host of other
special oceasions, Many of these events were held at Islund Park, the BRO's very own "first-
class excursion ground.”

fn 1878 the B&O purchased Bymes Island. an island in the Potomac River a shont distance
upstream from Hampers Forry, The company developed Bymes Island info o summer resort ai
renamed it Island Park. In 1894, the same year the new train station was buill, Island Park
boasted an "eating house.” several pavilions, a dining tenl, refreshment stands, as well as swings,
i skating rink. and a steam powered memry-go-rounil. A Fermis wheel was added by 1916, The
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attractions of the place were listed as boating, swinging, see-sawing, baseball, promenading, and
wading. Operated under B&O management, the resort at Island Park was perhaps best
remembered as the location of the company's annual employee picnic from 1881 to around 1918.
This popular event was always well-attended. In 1910, The Farmer's Advocate reported "the
usual number" of attendees, estimating the crowd at 5,000 to 6,000 employees and family
members.” The island was susceptible to flooding, however, and in 1923 the company
dismantled its remaining facilities and leased the island to a local farmer for pasture.

" Farmer's Advocate, 6 August 1910, p2¢c3-4.
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PART THREE: The 1930-31 Improvements and the Relocation of the Harpers Ferry
Station

The B&QO's Financial Condition

The reconstruction of the railroad at Harpers Ferry during the early 1890s served its purpose well
for several decades. By the mid-1920s, however, freight train weights and speeds had so
increased that even the broad curves of the 1894 realignment were beginning to restrict efficient
railroading operations through the town. It was difficult and expensive to brake the heavy fast
trains through the curves. So, beginning in 1930, the B&O began a second round of
improvements to the main line at Harpers Ferry. As before, the betterments included a new
Potomac River bridge, tunnel work, and realignment of the main line and Valley Branch
junction. This time, however, rather than build a brand new passenger station, the budget
conscious B&O picked up the Harpers Ferry train station—two-story tower included-—and
moved it to its current location. The 1930-31 improvements were the B&O's last major
alterations to the railroad at Harpers Ferry. For the station in particular, several changes to the

floor plan were made that more or less resulted in the building's current configuration.

Work began just in time, too, as the financial condition of the B&O Railroad Company
deteriorated significantly after 1930. During the generally prosperous and expanding times of
the 1920s, the B&O had spent nearly $100 million on railroad improvements. The 1930s,
however, were very lean years for the company. Each year after 1930 brought a sharp decline in
total traffic and revenue and the B&Q's stock value plummeted. Money was hard to find.
Naturally, this decline prohibited the company from making any significant improvements and
even some basic maintenance had to be deferred. At first company officials perceived the drop
in revenues to be only temporary. Therefore no reductions in the improvement program
occurred in 1930 and the Harpers Ferry project was allowed to proceed. Before the full severity
of the Great Depression was realized and the economic downturn brought even minor projects to
a halt, the B&O managed to complete its Harpers Ferry improvement.

Times were different a year later when B&O President Daniel Willard wrote his Annual Report
to stockholders. Reporting on the company's expenditures during 1931 he wrote, "Because of
the general conditions prevailing, expenditures for additions and betterments were confined
chiefly to improvements that had been under way and were nearing completion."”’ Whereas
more than $10 million dollars was spent during the previous year on infrastructure and
equipment, in 1931 virtually no money was spent on these things. The rest of the decade was
little different than 1931. Few years saw more than modest expenditures for maintenance of the
railroad. Had the Harpers Ferry improvements been delayed by a single year, it is doubtful they

"' Annual Report of the President and Directors to the Stockholders of the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad.
(Baltimore, 1932), 8.
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would have oecurred yntll Amenca emerged from the Depression with the puthbreak of World
War II.

The 1930-31 Bridge and Tunnel Work

e prncipal feature of the Huprovements was 4 new double-track bndge, consisting ol fourteen
deck plate-girder spans. The new bridge was constructed a1 an angle 1o the river axis, makmg it
approximigely S0 pércent longer than the 1894 bridge. The bridge met the West Virginia shore
considerably upriver from the londing of the previous one, but still within the old armory
wounds (Figure 30), Tt was alzo aligned on 3 tngent in relation to the tunnel, which onee and
for all eliminated the curvature on the Maryland side. On the West Virginia side, the new
#lignment resulted in a wide, sweeping curve (a 4 degree curve versus the previous 9 degree one)
that permitted pearly inrestnicted train speeds, The B&OYs engmeers finully sueceeded in
ndding the railrosd of 115 troublesome, curvy track at Harpers Ferry

Figure 20, The angle af the e Pirtommae: River Erdlpe. at far ¢
Ihe curvtite af dorh appeovackes  The TR Aelilze b s conter aend the original spsam & at fofv In By vl from
ihe Matitpland side  (Himey Freemwih calliction )
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Construction of the bndge proceeded mpidly. The Empire Comstruction Company from
Baltimore was contracted to build the abutnients and prers and B&O's Engineer of Bridjes,
Philip G, Lany, supervised the work. Steam shovels arrived on site in October 1930 and within o
month, eleven of the tirteen mussive bridge plers were completed (Figure 31), Crews
constructing the piers ook full advaniage of o protractedd drought thar the area was experiencing
Because of the drought, the waters of the Polomae neancd recond low levels, permitting men and
heavy equipment to work in the riverbed with only minimal cofferdams. The conditions were 50
favorahle that the work, originully estimited to take nine months, instead was finished m five
"No gruss hus tickled the soles of those engaged on this work." Lung wrote of the rapid mite of
construction. © The bridge plers were set on solid bedrock and rose 35" abave the foundations
Four thousand cubic feet of reinforced concrete wis used in their construction,

:';_"\- _'_"1. e

e e e 1t
Figure 31 Marvluml Hemha taweri in the buelgroond of tha 1930 view of thy néw bridler plars. Comvirvcsiion
of the bridfor propresivd guleldy thambs (g port fo low water kevals. The 1808 Braflee tcon the riphy (Juy Misasy
colleeiion |

" Phalip George Lang, "Beuting 'Ole Masn River, The Recusntiuction of Dus Potinrse River Bridge sl Hamper's
Ferry, W Va " Baltlmure dmd Ol Mogazine, Detenses 1930, 2

’ Jeffrey B Hallis and Charles S, Robests, Eqir Sk § & Q' "Nk of the Hogtle* Barmard, Roberss and Co,, Inc.,
Raltiewee, Marylunl, 1992, 3}
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The American Bridge Company was hired to complete the superstructure of the new bridge.
They fabrnicaied the sicel girders, which were then brought 10 the site on flarcars and hotsted into
place by a ril-mounted crane (Figere 32). The bridge was built using four lines of parallél
girders and approximately 4.4 million pounds of structural steel ™ The rls were placed on
wood crossties resting directly on top of the girders. The tracks averaged 47 above the river.
Wood walkways were built on both sides of the tracks and "goose-nieck™ light posts lined the
West Virginia end of the bridge. Though nol nearly us graceful as the B&O's two previous
Polomac River hridges. the 1931 bridge was functionally Fir superior

~ :

Hgm E . ?i\r F!J.M-;J avwl inder Brdge (NPS pham)

Om March 6, 1931, before construction was even completed, fire swept rapldly from one end of
the bridge to the other after o workmun accidentally dropped a red-hot rivet into & barrel of
creosote (Frnure 33). The newly laid crossties had been sonked in ereosoie and burned so
fiercely that the steel girders were warped and weakened. Seven and a half of the fourteen spans
and thirty of the girders had to be replaced. The damage was estimated at $200,000.,
Fortunately, the responsibility for the Toss did not fall on the budget-rmnded B&O. Al the time
of the fire, employees of the Empire Construction Company were in charge of the work and the

™ Hullis and Robert, Einnt Encl, 30: Caplinger, Bradipes (Ner Thme, 09



Baltimore & Ohio Railroad, Harpers Ferry Station
HAER No. WV-86
(Page 43)

Figyre' 13, Firy dampged the dew briffge bofore convruciion wes ceunpiotod  Fortumaiely, the toxh-abrmpped BQC
wikd mnf n*l..ﬂ-m.tfﬂl.f. for phe 2200 GO0 fasn  INPSX l--|.Ir_¢.r¢|. 3

bridge had not yet been tumed over to the nulm;id_.'" The necessary repairs were muide guickly
and the bridge opened lor traffic on June 1, 1931

Another important Teature of the improvement was the modificanion ol the unnel through
Murviand Heights. The angle of the new bridge required that the west end of the tunnel he

' Shephontstown Register, 9 Apnl 1931, p3c3

" Plillip Geotge Lang “Ninety-Four- Years of Bradpes ol Hafpers Feiiy © Englorey Nrus Redord, Septertiber 17,
1951, 438 Incredibly, the bBridee woulld catch fiee twoe mors tnes, ance an Apeil U], 193] s vt agoin on June 9,
1956 The 1951 fite bepdn when & miin paased over the Bridpe with Jik g<h pan door dipghtly gjar, sccidentully
unrting the blase  The 1954 fije hogan when g voal oain devadled, setting both the coal and bridgs oo fire To halt
the speead of the five, frefighiers wore wp sections of the wood platforme that led aut about Hall way sy e
lvidige. Evewlinesees reponed tayt fire trucks coming down into Niveer town Harpers Ferry on (then) Re 340 had
diffieubty germing wiler m fih the fire because the river was low. After 1936 B&O inetalled Greproild costings amd
liresiops 1o peviend Auture disasiers, g precauion they had previpudy deeimed o expensive.
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widened. or "bell-mouthed.” 10 & width of 45°. This w |-]._'!".i-"-1; alsi allowed lor the cony ergenees
of the trucks from the old and new bridges mt u location just inside the wnnel (Figure 34). This
urusuy] arrangement s one of the lew in-tunnel inerlock junctions in the nation, " Additionul
ultérations to the tunnel removed clearance restrictions. A new reinforced-conerete lining and
ponal were also added, wiving the tunnel (s currenl appearance

’ ’.{'I”r'l {; 'IIJJ' “"'\- €2 3 bl S l-’I the Alary -II." il e |_-'."."- L THIE T T T, .:'.'.l. s Ik RS el T i ._.'_- "

ey withim (Hemis
I reirmeny oo e tion

Oiher chunges were miade (0 the rmilromd on the West Virginia shope: The abuiment of the new
bnidge was set back from the armory nver wall. The approach to the hridge required that anothor
fill embankmem be made on the former armory grounds (Figure 35). Once agin, the 20" high
fill covered pomions of several of the old armory building foundations, Three temporary frame

structures and an outhouse were ereeted on the old armory grounds near the base of the new

Hodlis and Hoberm, o Eng
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embankment. Bulldozers prepared 2 roughly tnangular-shuped platform that stretched from the
abutment all the way to Potomse Street. The Hal arca, which would become the new home for
the passenger station, was graded and used us n-singing area for eonstruction supplies (Figure
36). Access 10 the new depol grounds was gained via 8 driveway off Polomag Street. The
surfaces of the drveway and new depot (ot were |eft unpaved

i ot | — . =
Figure 35, The I1930-31 realipnmant reguired anotfer 7T cothbankeent to be plieced oa ihit former armory grounds
Note the armdiry ulifing: foundutson voutfelie in The phoie ! rght (Badh cowrtey of MHenry Freem, b

Flonre 36 A oskman povpires the site fur the relossrion of the Hizprs Feere srn
shithiesd . (NS phveere )
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Andther feature of the new alignment was the rearrangement of the mils for through traffic.
After 1931, the 1894 bndge carned only the trains of the Valley Brunch, A smghe track of the
0ld main |me was left in place to connect the two bridges on the Harpers Ferry side. This
cormection hetween the 18594 aligament wxd the new main b was misindained as a detour for
cimergency purposes for several vears. 1t was eventually converied 1o o nineteen-car siding in
1958, When the 1930-31 improvements were completed, for ¢ period of five years, until the
destruction of the Bollmmn bridge in the 1936 flood. all three of the B&O's Potomac River
crossings and alignments could be seen side by side (Figure 37),

Figure 37, Thio mertul plotoiroph, aken in 193] jud prior o the refocanon of the suamom, vhows all three Potomac
Keover crossires amd aloommmenioe at Harpery Fermy. INES phome)

* Hollls gl Robeats, Eovd Fagl 34
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Relocanion of the Harpers Ferry Station

As carly as 1925 local newspapers were speculating on the proposed realignment through
Harpers Ferry, The Parmer's Advocare mformed its readers that heavier locomotives and

freights would compel the BRO 10 huild a new bridge and make its curves longer and struighter.
Though the reports were charactenized al that time as “rumors.” the paper correctly predicted that

such a mal'lemt would require the relocation of the stution somewhere "farther up the

Potomac.

In fact, the stationt and its companion westhound waiting shelter were moved

severil hundred virds upstream and placed al the west end of the new bridge.

I'he westbound waiting shelter was the first
structure relocated. Compared to the statton,
the shelter's relatively small size and Light
framung made 11 the casier of the two tasks 10
complete. In February 1931, workmen utilized
a mil-mounted crane 1w 1ift the shelter onto a
Nt radlcar and move it 1o the new location
(Figure 38). The structure was |efl largely
infact, except for a minor change in 18 niver-
facing wall, There the sliding door that
provided access (o the 1913 subway stairs was
removed  The resulting opeming was then
enclosed. The stairs, (oo, were lorn away and
the old subway tunnel was filled in prior 1o the
relécation.

Al the new site, pedestnan access 1o the shelter
was once again controlled by means of a east-
iron fence hetween the two sets of rails. A new
concrele subway was built. The tunnel passed
below the tracks and through the bridge
abutment. On the eastbound side of the tracks,
a new siibwiy-covering shed wis built. It
rested on a concrete foundation and was
coverad with tongue and groove siding that
mistched the passenger station buikding (Figure
30 Larer, when the sintion was relocated. the
now subway<covering shed was connectled to
the mam bwlding by 2 matchmg slite roof.

" Fufmer's Advesate, 2X November 1925 plzl.

77
i

1

Figury 35, Nl.ru'.'rg fhie weat e
waithiog sholivr, (NPS phodo. )

e
.
Figure 39 At the wew qate, the B& built o

sufvogy bo provvides mde aceans fo B wadiing
vhalter  (B&0 Kadlread Muxoum. )
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In the meantime, the B&O prepared to move the passenger station to 1ts new location. Before
the move, during the month of March, several changes were made to the building's floor plan
(Figure 40; see also Appendix V). Many of the changes were made in order to upgrade the
building's heating system once the station was moved to the new location. The most drastic
alteration in this regard was the conversion of the women's waiting room into a boiler room. The
boiler for the existing hot water furnace, originally installed in 1925, was to be moved to the
former women's waiting room and adapted for steam heat. The plan for the new heating system
did not require the large firebox or such a large brick chimney and these features were therefore
removed. Also the openings on both sides of the firebox were closed off, effectively cutting off
access to the tower from the inside of the station.

The adaptive reuse of the women's waiting room for this new function led to several other
changes in the station's floor plan. The hallway that connected the two waiting rooms was
blocked off and this space was added to the ticket agent's office. The ticket office's bay window
was removed and the wall was then rebuilt in line with the side of the building. The existing
three windows were reset and the new section of wall was covered with matching clapboard
siding. The ticket-selling counter and window that had opened into the women's waiting room,
now the boiler room, were also removed. Once the station reopened at its new site, there would
be only one passenger waiting room.

No longer separated by gender, men and women would now wait for their trains together in the
waiting room formerly designated for men's use only. This change necessitated the relocation of
the women's bathroom. It was moved from the lower story of the tower to a more convenient
space adjacent to the new waiting room, occupying the space where the stairwell to the old
subway previously had been. A new partition was put up between the new women's bathroom
and the baggage room and obscured glass was hung in the bathroom window. At the bathroom's
former location in the tower, a small comer of the space was converted for use as a "battery
room."

The men's bathroom, too, was altered before the station reopened at its new site. The room
remained the same size, but the projecting bay section was removed and the space, in essence,
was shifted back into the building. The room's two windows were reset and new partitions were
built to separate it from the new women's bathroom and the waiting room. The dormer above the
men's bathroom with its three decorative mesh-guarded windows was also removed at this time
and the slate roof was patched.

Finally, by April 15, 1931, the alterations were completed and the station was ready to be
transported to its new location.*® As a crowd of curious onlookers gathered, the station was
carefully lifted onto the old main line rails and hauled by a steam crane towards 1ts new home
(Figure 41). Once there, the station was lifted with its cribbing and put into place.

*0 Spirit of Jefferson, 15 April 1931, pécl.
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Figure 41, Houliig the station to ity new locaidon, 193]
fiv fhye e (NS Frh. i, J

The timbers that made up the eribbing functioned as the foundation and were s2t resting directly
on the surface ol the fill

Afler the move, a few nishing touches were made ta the station, These changes were primaniy
related to the building’s heating. plumbing, and dramage sysiems. Throughowt the station, all
new joists and flooring were added after waler supply and drainage lines were installed. The
station's main outlet for drmmege wus s 166" long, 2' m diameter term cotta pipe that discharged
directly trto the river, Numerous sidistors throughout the station were moved from one location
to another

The women's whiting room-boller roam conversion was also among the 1asks completed ufler the
station was moved. A paritton was added to divide the boiler room mito two spaces, One of the
spaces served #s g coal storage bin. Coal was stared in 8 surken pit with 8 dirt floor. The rest of
the boiler oom space was devoted 1o the heating equipment. A 3' deep pit wiss dug and lined
with concrote to house the boiler and heating pump. A new water tank was placed above the
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ceiling of the signal tower and a vent pipe was put through the roof. A smaller, square brick
chimney replaced the original chimney. The following fall, in October 1932, a new furnace was

installed.®!

The Decline of the Railroads

Beginning almost immediately after it was moved, the newly relocated railroad station at Harpers
Ferry began a slow, almost imperceptible decline. It was a decline caused by neglect that fully
mirrored the health of the B&O Railroad Company and the entire railroad industry. The seeds
for the decline had been planted years earlier during the first few decades of the twentieth
century. Several factors contributed to the difficulties experienced by the railroads in that era.
One cause was an increase in governmental regulations. The railroads suffered as the authority
of the Interstate Commerce Commission expanded. A more critical threat to the vitality of the
industry, however, was the birth of two competitive modes of transportation that would
ultimately be the undoing of the railroads—airplanes and automobiles.

In 1903 Wilbur and Orville Wright made the first successful sustained powered flights in a
heavier-than-air machine, thereby ushering in the age of flight. Of greater and more immediate
concern to railroad business was the development of the automobile. By 1917 Henry Ford was
selling nearly a half million cars and trucks per year.®* Seen at first as little more than a rich
man's toy, the automobile was slow to catch on. Besides, there were very few good roads and
intercity highways were virtually non-existent. It would take several more decades for
automobiles and airplanes to really challenge the railroads as carriers of passengers and cargo,
but the day was coming.

As the infrastructure to support automobiles continued to develop in the 1920s and 1930s, there
was a corresponding drop in rail passenger traffic. During the 1920s, the number of cars and
trucks had increased from 8 million to 23 million, and many small intercity buses had started to
provide service over a growing highway system.®® With the emergence of the private
automobile, decent roads, and motorbuses, passengers began to favor the car over the train,
especially for traveling short distances. As a result, the railroad's passenger revenue shrank. The
phrase "hitting the road" was no longer synonymous with catching a train.

"The passenger problem," as the decline in passenger train usage came to be called in the late
1920s, became more acute in the 1930s. As America entered fully into the Great Depression, the
decline of the railroads accelerated. The B&O continued to lose passengers and freight to the

81 Spirit of Jefferson, 12 October 1932, plc2.
%2 Stover, History of the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad, 205.

- Stover, History of the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad, 270.
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highway. Its passenger revenue declined during the decade from $18.5 million in 1930 to $10.6
million in 1940.** With less and less capital on hand to devote to its passenger facilities, the
once-proud railroad stations slowly lost their luster. As automobiles and roads continued to
appear across the land, railroad stations such as the one at Harpers Ferry, lost their dominant
position in the transportation landscape. The "golden age" of railroading was fading from the
American scene.

Railroad executives tried in vain to counter the steep decline in passenger train usage. One
solution in that era was to replace a steam train with a gas-electric motor car, which was less
expensive to operate, and to reduce the number of main-line locals and branch trains. Fewer
trains were operated on marginal or money-losing services.” At the same time, in order to lure
the public back to the rails, the railroads introduced innovative concepts in train travel. For
example, in 1930 the B&O introduced trains with reclining seats and air-conditioned dining cars.
By 1931 it operated the first completely air-conditioned passenger train. Later in the decade, a
stewardess/nurse service was inaugurated to look after the comforts of passengers. Faster and
faster classes of trains were also introduced to the B&O lines.*® Though these advancements
were well received, the erosion of the B&O's passenger services and facilities continued their
slow but steady decline. According to one account, during the bleakest of times, traffic on the
B&O line past Harpers Ferry station dropped to as low as six trains per day.®’

America's entrance into World War II provided a brief but welcome interruption to the B&O's
downward financial trend. The war brought an upswing to the American economy that lifted the
nation out of the Depression and provided a much-needed spark to the railroad industry. Though
the industry prospered as a whole, it was an especially beneficial time for the B&O and Harpers
Ferry in particular (Figure 42). The railroads played a key role in transporting vast quantities of
men and materials for the war effort. It has been estimated that over the course of World War II,
special troop trains carried 43.7 million members of the armed forces, or an average of nearly 1
million men per month.*® Even with this great upsurge in wartime passenger traffic, freight
traffic continued to be the basic economic mainstay of the B&O. The freight traffic during the
war consisted of the usual civilian peacetime shipments as well as a mix of wartime munitions,
equipment, and shipbuilding materials.

=t Stover, History of the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad, 290-91.

%5 Charles W. Turner, Chessie's Road. (Revised 2™ edition, 1993, The Chesapeake & Ohio Historical Society, Inc.,
Alderson, West Virginia, 1956), 200.

% Stover, History of the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad, 287.
*7 Harwood, Impossible Challenge, 169.

* Stover, History of the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad, 310.
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Figure 42, 19805 viows of ihe station. Top. oa. 1943 (Henry
Froeman ooffecmon.s; Alistdde. Workmen riding e raifs. [ 990
INPS phidi. J. Beoteom. Wiitinie shielter. 942 (INPS phii)
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The versatility of the failroad as a mode of trunsportation was highlighted during the war, Huge
amotnts of o1l and coal and nearly all troops were camed by Amerien's milromds.  Other means
of shipping these goods were neganvely affected by wartime circumstunces, Shipmient by trucks
over kighways, for example, declined because of n scarcity of tires and shonagss of gasoline.
Normal constal shipping lanes were also affected by the war. As German U-boats disrupted
tanker traffic from the Gull Coust to the east, the rdlroad came 10 the rescue by diverting
immense quantities of petroleutn products overland ™ Rail deliveries of o1l from the
soulhwestern oilfields 10 tho east const refinerics surged from 11,250 barrels per day 10 more
than | million barrels per duy (Figure 43).°

Figure 43, Tank cars pasxing the station p [942 Ratfraad setivin d-r;m:m.um ingregnd QF FHurpors Ferry
during Wordd Wor J ax buge amauniy of esgreriall and men moved cver the fine (NP5 pdiatio )

" Hollis and Roberis, Rost Ead, 30, Hirweod apossibdy Elmaliompe. 173
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Because of its position along the B&O's main line, Harpers Ferry benefited from the wartime
prosperity enjoyed by the B&O Railroad. Railroading activities at Harpers Ferry were infused
with a vitality not seen for years. From an average of about twenty trains a day in 1940, traffic at
the station rose to forty-two by the midpoint of the war.”' This formerly depressed section of the
main line was brought back to life as export merchandise, military supplies, and troop
movements flooded the line on its way to Washington, Baltimore, and other east coast ports.

The demand for coal skyrocketed and the trains rumbled by day and night on their overland route
to the industrial cities of the northeast. All the bustle made a lasting impression on one longtime
Harpers Ferry resident. He recalls sitting on some nearby rocks and watching the wartime traffic
pass. The trains were "constant" and laden with coal, tanks, and other weaponry. The nearby
rail yard at Brunswick, he recalls, was jammed with train cars filled up with these things, all of
which "was quite a sight for locals."””

Corporate Mergers, Modernization, and the Removal of the Station's Tower

The prosperity of the war years allowed the B&O to pay off a substantial share of its pre-war,
Depression-era debt. But the postwar years were characterized by another decline in revenue,
owing largely to another drop-off in passenger service. As revenues declined and truck traffic
increased, once again the B&O faced mounting financial difficulties. Many of the other railroads
in the eastern United States were declaring bankruptcy and proposing mergers.”> B&O officials
believed that only through consolidation could the decline of the eastern railroads be halted. And
whereas federal regulators once opposed the idea on grounds of monopolies, by the 1950s the
ICC took notice of the sharp and increasing competition from other modes of transportation and
allowed the mergers to begin. The Chesapeake and Ohio Railroad (C&O), one of the dominant
players of the scene, wanted to acquire the B&O.

Although talks to unite C&O with B&O had begun in 1958, the merger was not completed and
approved until January 1963.”* The combined C&O-B&O system controlled 11,000 miles of
track. The following year, in June 1964, C&0O-B&O took control of the Western Maryland
Railroad. Together, the three merger partners controlled a large share of the east's great
coalfields. Passenger traffic on the new family of railroads, however, continued its decline.
Though the three companies initially retained their full corporate identities, slowly various
departments of the lines began to consolidate into a unified whole. By the early 1970s the

" Stover, History of the Baltimore and Ohio Raz‘lroa&, 312.
?! Harwood, Impossible Challenge, 173.

7 Jay Mauzy, personal communication, July 2002.

”* Turner, Chessie's Road, 191.

** Turner, Chessie's Road, 194.
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transition to one company was complete. Company executives decided it was time for a new
image and in 1972 a holding company called the "Chessie System" was created.

By 1980 the Chessie System railroads would
themselves be subsumed in a series of mega-mergers
that resulted in the formation of the giant CSX
Corporation (Figure 44). The company quickly
branched out into other modes of transportation
including sea, air, barge and highway, and in 1986
formed CSX Transportation (CSXT) with its Fd

headquarters in Jacksonville, Florida. Figure 44. CSX logo. (CSX
Corporation)

Throughout the merger process, the C&O pumped enormous amounts of money, supplies, and
equipment into the B&O to help bring its deferred maintenance and antiquated equipment up to
date. A committee was set up to consider what parts of the system were duplicative,
unproductive, or otherwise a drain on company resources. This process, which the B&O had
already begun in the early 1950s, led to physical facilities reductions and service abandonments.
These changes had a dramatic impact on the appearance of the B&O's old main line and the
station at Harpers Ferry. First, the company tore down all structures it deemed unnecessary.
Next, unprofitable passenger services were cancelled. Though the Harpers Ferry station was
spared the wrecking ball, many of the region's other stations were not. For example, in 1950
virtually all of the company's frame way stations and passenger shelters between Baltimore and
Point of Rocks, Maryland were completely dismantled.”

The appearance of the station at Harpers Ferry did change dramatically, however, when it lost its
interlock tower. On February 3, 1950, the interlocking controls were moved from the tower to
the agent's office. The tower itself was dismantled between August 1950 and March 1951.%°
The removal of the interlocking tower was a typical end result in the railroad's usage of
technological developments. Advancements in technology rendered the tower obsolete and it
was removed. With the second floor of the two-story tower gone and the subsequent remodeling
of that section of the roof, the station looked much as it does today (Figure 45). It did not fully
achieve its current configuration, however, until the building's north dormer was removed.
Photographic evidence suggests this was done sometime after 1958 but before the mid-1970s.

During recent decades, other advances in technology have affected modem railroading
operations at the Harpers Ferry station. High tech innovations such as radio communications,
sophisticated computer systems, and geo-locational tracking devices have all allowed dispatchers
to control train movements remotely. On November 5, 1986, the train order and switching

= Harwood, Impossible Challenge, 174.

’ Hollis and Roberts, East End, 34.
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Rutilropdd Musesoy |

lunctions at Hirpers Ferry were removed 1o nearby Brunswick, Maryland thereby ending the
Jong histary of the individual agent/operator at the station.” Even the days of the Chicl
Dispatcher on cach division of the railroad sre coming 1o an end ss evolving technologies allow
the USX centrul dispatching center at Jacksonville, Florida to assume more efficient contro] from
a distant location.

Recent History and Conclusions

As hus been noted, steadily declining passenger revenues prompted the ratiroad to cut or scale
back services: In 1953 alone. the B&O discontinued nine passenger rains.™  As the huge
highway building program launched during the Eisenhower administration gained momentum,
each yeur saw additional passenger services cut By 1970 there was # growing public concern
over Lhe disagppearance of pussenyer trains throughout the country —down alarmingly from
20,000 fmtercity trains in 1929 10 only 00 in 1970, In response 1 the public coneem, in
October 1970, Congress passed legisintion that created the Narnonal Railroad Passenger
Corparation, better known as Amtrak, Amirak’s passenger sorvices commenced operation on
May 1, 1971 and established a limited national rail network. The Harpers Ferry station currently
provides daily passenger service on Amtrak’s Capitol Limited line between Washington and
(hicugo,

" Rob Breoxiowsky, “Harpers Femry Station 1o he Restored * | Hull Sheer newslaner), 3
" Svover, Miveory of the Bualtimere gl Ol Badlrad, 251

® Stover, Hiviory of the Battvwory and Ofito Railroad. 368
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Arcund the same ime s Amtrak's formation; there was a surprising renmssance in the dmly
committer business. Construction of Interstate 270 in Maryland encouraged suburban growth to
the north and west of Washington, D.C. As the suburbs expanded and the arca's population
mereased during the 19708 and 1980y, the Marylnd Department of Transportation (MDOT)
began subsidization of commuter service on the old BRO lins. This allowed residents of the
TEEION easy acoess 1o pomnits in and around the Baltimore-Washington metropoiitan area. The
sgrvice, now operated by CSXT, was officially gamed the Maryland Rail Commuter (MARC)
Train Service i 1983, Under 1 lease agreement, MARC commuter services were extended into
West Virginua as for west as Martinsburg.  The Harpers Ferry depot currently provides weckday
commuter service on MARC's Brungwick line

The foet thut the Harpers Ferry station remained in sctive use while other stations in the region
were ahundoned, did not exempt {1 from fallng thito disrepair, Indeed, conditions had
defenorated to the pomt that in 1999 the Nanonnl Trust for Historic Preservation and the Cireat
Amenean Station Foundation nemed the Station one of the "Top 10 Most Endangered Stations in
Amenca" (Figure 46), The list was designed to highlight histone stations that were in danger of
losing their capacity W operate as rul stations due to imemanent demolition, destruction by
neglect, or plans (o terminate station operations. The nomination for the Hamers Ferry station
states that "the former B&O Railrosd Depot has fallen into disrepair and today faces an
endangered future A revitalized depol.” it continues, "can serve a2 & welcoming front door to
the popular community of Harper's Ferry and encouruge individuals, familics, and groups to use
rail service us an casy, safe, und efficient way 1o visit this histone attraction ™™

A H
Figure 46 Prvervartimints pad the siation am am “emditmperoed” (57 TV Thie comfition of thy statios com bw sowm
in theve verws i the dtericr Parts of the stazion ke ditesiormted from disire and teglect (photor by Jokn W
Raverhrs )

" Great American Station Foundution. Fadungered Stations Archive, 1999 Winners, Hatpens Forry, West Viegiala,
Bylrimore and Ohis Rpdlroad Statiog, www smtionfoundation oy secessed 2 Decenmiber 2002
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While the endangered designation may have helped foster public dialogue about the future of the
station, at the time of the listing the National Park Service (NPS) had been negotiating the
ownership of the building with CSX for quite some time. In an on-again-off-again deal that took
almost four decades to negotiate, CSX and NPS finally reached an agreement in September
2001. The NPS had long been aware of the station's potential as a gateway for visitors to
Harpers Ferry National Historical Park. The idea that the NPS could acquire the station was first
proposed in Congress in 1960, but negotiations did not begin in earnest until about twenty years
ago. Negotiations intensified more recently with West Virginia Senator Robert Byrd's
involvement. The final agreement was a trade that transferred the station and five acres of the
former armory grounds in exchange for property in Cumberland, Maryland."

In a press release, Senator Byrd said, "This property is vitally important to both the history of the
region and to the local economy. After decades of negotiation, the land transfer will allow
community leaders, working in conjunction with the National Park Service, to rehabilitate the
historic B&O train station."'** In the summer of 2002, the Historic American Engineering
Record (HAER) recorded the existing conditions at the Harpers Ferry station. Measured
drawings and photographs were completed as part of HAER's mission to document historically
significant engineering and industrial works in the United States. With regards to the future use
of the building, Park Service officials are working on a cooperative agreement with both the
Town of Harpers Ferry and CSX Corporation. The NPS has pledged to continue to support
Amtrak and MARC operations during the restoration process.

1 For details of the transaction see: Brad Pierce, "Park Service Takes Control of U.S. Armory Grounds."
Martinsburg Journal and Andrew Schotz, "Park Service Gets Train Station." Morning Herald. (both 26 September

2001).

102 a5 quoted in Schotz, "Park Service Gets Train Station." Morning Herald, 26 September 2001.
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APPENDIX I - Harpers Ferry Railroad Station Chronology.

1894

1898

1900

1910

1913

1915

1916

1923

1923

1929

1930-31

1931

1932

Station constructed; designed by architect E. Francis Baldwin.
Westbound waiting shelter constructed. All depot buildings repainted.

New interlocking functions installed in tower. Exterior stairs to tower probably
added at this time.

Westbound waiting shelter enlarged with 20" addition. Paving (brick) and
curbing (stone) instalied around depot.

Subway to westbound waiting shelter constructed. Access to subway by
stairwell added to men's waiting room. Construction of stairs required a new
partition between men's waiting room and baggage room. Iron fences erected
between tracks and around depot grounds. Forty-four "electrical lamps" added

at depot and grounds.

Station painted "standard B&O red and brown.” (Prior to this date, station was
a light color.)

Express room partitioned when express agent's office is moved into station.

Station painted.
New hot water furnace installed.
Interior of station painted shades of cream and tan.

Chimney and south dormer removed. Subway stairs closed off. Bay windows
of men's toilet room (south facade) and ticket office (north facade) removed.
Women's toilet room relocated to subway stairs area. Women's waiting room
partitioned and converted to boiler room and coal bin. Hall connecting waiting
rooms blocked off and incorporated into ticket office. Numerous heating,
plumbing, and drainage changes.

Station and waiting shelter relocated to present site. Construction of new
subway and subway covering shed. Iron fence erected between tracks. Door
added to north side of tower (1st floor). Smaller chimney rebult.

New furnace installed.



1950

1958-ca. 1975

ca. 1986

1986

1999

2001

2002

Baltimore & Ohio Railroad, Harpers Ferry Station
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Interlock tower removed.
North dormer removed.
Station sandblasted. .
Interlock controls removed to Brunswick, Maryland.
Great American Station Foundation and the National Trust for Historic
Preservation name Harpers Ferry train station one of the "Top 10 Most

Endangered Stations in America."

NPS acquires train station and former armory grounds site from CSX
Corporation.

Historic American Engineering Record documents existing conditions.
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APPENDIX LI - Miscellaneous Photographs.
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Chrrcn 19208 (Henry Freeman collection)




Baltimore & Ohio Railroad, Harpers Ferry Station
HAER Mo, WVY-50
(Page 11.3)

Cirea 1920 (BORHS),
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1931 (Henry Freeman collection)
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Circa 1955-57 (HFNHP),
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Baltimore & Ohio Railroad, Harpers Ferry Station
HAER No. WV-80
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1973 (BORHS).




Baltimore & Ohio Railroad, Harpers Ferry Station
HAER No. WV-806
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Circa 1970s {John King collechion).
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Cirea 1970s (John King collection),



Baltimore & Ohio Railroad, Harpers Farmyv Station
HAER No WV-86
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Circa 1970s (John King collection)



Baltimore & Ohio Railroad, Harpers Ferry Station
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(Page 11-22)

|



Baltimore & Ohio Railroad, Harpers Ferry Station
HAER No. WV-86
(Page III-1)

APPENDIX IIT — Drawings of Proposed Station, 1913.
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Baltimore & Ohio Railroad, Harpers Ferry Station
HAER No. WV-86
(Page I11-3)
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Track Elevation of Proposed Train Station.




Baltimore & Ohio Railroad, Harpers Ferry Station
HAER No. WV-86
(Page 111-4)
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West Elevation of the Express Building.



Baltimore & Ohio Railroad, Harpers Ferry Station
HAER No. WV-36
(Page I1I-5)
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Baltimore & Ohio Railroad, Harpers Ferry Station
HAER No. WV-86
(Page 111-6)
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Baltimore & Ohio Railroad, Harpers Ferry Station
HAER No. WV-86
(Page IV-1)

APPENDIX 1V - ICC Valuation Survey, Harpers Ferry Station, 1919.

Appendix IV consists of a transcription of valuation records created by the Interstate Commerce
Commussion (ICC), Bureau of Valuation. ICC records provide detailed documentation
pertaining to all aspects of the railroads of the United States from the agency's creation in 1887
until the 1960s. Most of the valuation records were created during the period 1915-20 by ICC
and railroad employees who undertook a massive project to inventory almost every aspect of the

railroad system.

The valuation records are 1n the custody of the College Park, Maryland facility of the National
Archives and are part of Record Group 134, Records of the Interstate Commerce Commission.
They are arranged by name of the railroad, thereunder by types of records, thereunder by
valuation section number, and finally by volume number. The general subject categories of the
records are land, engineering, and accounting reports and supporting documentation. The
engineering field notes are particularly valuable for researchers because of the detailed
information they often contain: written notes concerning construction specifications of bridges
and buildings, drawings and blueprints, and photographs. The records utilized in this report are
engineering field notes for the period 1914-29, contained in section WV 36.1 of the Baltimore
and Ohio Railroad group, Volume 61.

The inventory of the B&O's facilities at Harpers Ferry, West Virgima was made August 14-21,
1919. The bnidge and building notes cover all B&O property in the town, including the
passenger station, subway, shelters, freight storage building, as well as miscellaneous structures
such as a cattle pen and pump house. Another portion of these records details the B&O's
facilities at Island Park, a twenty-acre resort and amusement park on Byrnes Island in the
Potomac. Following is a transcription of pages 1-7, that portion of the records covering the
passenger station and features of the immediate depot area. Unfortunately, no key or legend was
provided in the original document to decipher the abbreviations used in the survey.



Baltimore & Ohio Railroad, Harpers Ferry Station

Interstate Commerce Commission
Bureau of Valuation

Date: August 19, 1919

Carrier: Baltimore & Ohio R.R.
Station: 3746+0 Account No.: 16
Location: Harpers Ferry, W. Va.

Character and Description of Property

HAER No. WV-86
(Page IV-2)

Pass. Station & Tower Age: 1894  Remaining Service Life: 36
Maintenance: N Source of Data: Carrier

See Plans — Sheets 2, 3, 4

on file Office of Chief Engr — Balt. Md.
File #1058 for details

No copies available for I.C.C. File

Station similar to Type W-4 Exceptions:

Pass. 62.9'x 21.7' x [(14.5' + 21.5") + 2]
Tower: 13.8"'x 8.4'x [(31.5" + 39.5") + 2]
Tower: 13.8'x 5.4'x [(14.5' +23") + 2]
Toilet: 10.2'x4.6'x 13.8' A

Bay: [(12.5'+6.7)+2]x4.8'x13.8' A
Baggage & X'press: 30.6'x 21.7'x [(14.5' +21.5") + 2]
Dormers (2): 12'x 5'x 8/3'

1. 12 — V (Rubble) D = 10" under area 33'x 21.7'

Floor of brick - No stairway — Longit. rubble wall
instead of piers
1¢8 — D = 4' (Rubble) under remainder

2-3. Astype - except the dado.

4. 4¢ — Draining as type except on chamfered
brackets — outplate & rafters (cont.)

C.F [Cubic Feet]: 43596

CF 6545

|



Baltimore & Ohio Railroad, Harpers Ferry Station
HAER No. WV-86

(Page IV-3)
[page 2}
Pole gutters all around — G.1 downspouts
G.1 fimal C.1 box protection on downspouts
5. As type — G.1 diamond mesh guards on Bay & X'room windows
6. As type except Rafters are 3" x 8" — 2' Joists 3" x 12"
on 16" — Upper joists 3" x 10" — See filed plans for details.
7. 7g.  Maple in Tower
8. As type thru-out except T.9 HB (?) ceilings in
Waiting Room supported on Exposed dressed &
chamfered rafters — Mansard ceiling
Two additional partitions of type 8c
See filed plans for details.
10. 20f10b,10f10d
11. 11a2R C.F: 34836

12. 21 of 12al

15. 8of15f, 4 of 15g — oak
Signs — 2 of Type WS — 1

Furniture — Station — Type PS 550 $550.00
Fumiture — Tower — Type T80 $80.00



[page 3]

Subway at Pass. Sta. Age: 6

Clerks Carrier Plan 9867
1 sheet

Note — Clerks Plan in all respects
Compute Subway
Compute Covered Stairway
Compute Landing, etc.

Compute Drainage

12. 5 o0f 12al in subway

Note — Three sided & Four sided
shelters shown in above
plan have been typed
and are inventoried

1n Notes

Baltimore & Ohio Railroad, Harpers Ferry Station

Remaining Service Life: 94
Maintenance: N

Source of Data: Carrier

73.5' long

23.5' long

9' long

HAER No. WV-86
(Page IV-4)
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Baltimore & Ohio Railroad, Harpers Ferry Station
HAER No. WV-86

(Page IV-5)

[page 4]
Four Sided Shelter Age:1912 Remaining Service Life: 44

West Bound Maintenance: N Source of Data: Carrier

Type W -31B

20.5'x 10'x [(10.5"+ 13.5") + 2] C.F. 2460
1. Seeitem 7. G =2"av.
2. Jack
4. 4c — Gutters & Spouts
¥ 2PW -2 20.5'x 10' S.F. [Square Feet]: 205
8. Sheathed T.G.& B. walls & ceilings fbm: 1082
12. 2 of 12al — (conduit) No.: 2
15. 30o0f15a Settee — H.P. L.F.: 30

Furniture Type P.S.-21 $21.00

3 Sided W.B. Shed Age:1912 Remaining Service Life: 44

Maintenance: N Source of Data: Carrier

Type W-32  49'x 10"+ [(10.5' + 13.5") + 2]
G=2av. CJF. 5880

1. See item 7

4. 4c — Gutter & spouts

5. Windows — on 10’ centers — D. H. & weighted

7. 2PW-2 49'x 11.5° S.F.: 564
12. 3 of12al No.: 3
15. 59 of15a H.P. settee L.F: 39



Baltimore & Ohio Railroad, Harpers Ferry Station
HAER No. WV-86

(Page IV-6)
[pages]
Misc. Structures — Sta. Grounds
Platforms — Type PB — 4 Age: 8 Remaining Service Life: 42
Maintenance: N Source of Data: Carrier
1037'x 8 +110'x 22
59.5'x 36' + S.F.: 20219
156'x 16"+ 75" x 42'+ 30' x 9%
50'x4'+26'x30'+30'x 15
Type 2PW - 1 32'x4'+16'x9'+42'x 55 S.F.:
23'x 12'+ 2 pesupon 3' x 3.5' x V4" Ibs: 214
Age: 3 Remaining Service Life: 5
Maintenance: N Source of Data:; Carrier
Curbing Type CC—-2 1057 lin. ft. L.F.: 1057
Age: 8 Remaining Service Life: 42
Maintenance: N Source of Data: Carrier
Type CC -1 813 lin. ft. L.F.: 813
Fences Type P—-3 680 Ilin. fi. L.F.: 680
1 Gate No.: 1
Age: 8 Remaining Service Life: 62
Maintenance: N Source of Data: Carrier
Type 6P -2 1002 lin. ft. L.F.: 1002
4 Gates No.: 4
Age: 8 Remaining Service Life: 62
Maintenance: N Source of Data: Carrier
Mail Crane 1 of Type B No.: 1
| Age: 8 Remaining Service Life: 62
Maintenance: N Source of Data: Carrier
Lighting 13 0of 12ab No.: 13
Age: 8 Remaining Service Life: 62
Maintenance: N Source of Data: Carrier
Signs Type CS —- 4 thus No.: 4
Age: 8 Remaining Service Life: 62
Maintenance: N Source of Data: Carrier

|



Baltimore & Ohio Railroad, Harpers Ferry Station

[page 6]

Misc. Structures — Cont.

Steps Type WS -2 36 risers x 10" wide
Age: 3
Maintenance: N
Railing Type 2R — 1 123
Age: 3
Maintenance: N
Walk Type PC — 1 (Bluestone) 110'x 7'
Age: 15
Maintenance: B.N.
Curbing Type CS -2 110’

Age: 15

Maintenance: B.N.

Driveways & Walk TypePS -1 90% Cond.
175'x 10’
150'x 52
150'x 6'
Grass — (Sodded) 150'x 30
Hedge (Privot) 150' long x 3' high
Fence Type [illegible] 60 lin. ft.
Age: 15

Maintenance: N

HAER No. WV-86
(Page IV-7)

L.F.:360

Remaining Service Life: 4
Source of Data: Est.

L.F.: 123
Remaining Service Life: 9
Source of Data: Est.

S.F.: 770
Remaining Service Life: 5
Source of Data: Est.

LF.:110
Remaining Service Life: 15
Source of Data: Est.

- 31S.Y.: 1161

S.F.: 4500

L.F.: 150

S.F.: 60
Remaining Service Life: 45
Source of Data: Carrier

60 of sq. mesh wire skirting in angle framing

skirting = 12"



Baltimore & Ohio Railroad, Harpers Ferry Station
HAER No. WV-86

|

(Page 1V-8)
[page 7]
Misc. Struct. — Continued
(Valley Side)
Platform TypePS—-1 216'x 12 75% Cond. S.Y.: 288
Type 2PW -2 64'x 10’ +S.F.: 915
22'x12.5'
Age: 2 Remaining Service Life: 6
Mamtenance: N Source of Data: Est.
Curbing Type CW -1 174’ LF.:174
Age: 2 Remaining Service Life: 6
Maintenance: B.N.  Source of Data: Est.
Railing Type 2R -3 92' L.F.: 92
Age: 4 Remaining Service Life: 8
Maintenance: N Source of Data: Est.
Type 2R — 1 64' L.F.: 64
Age: 4 Remaining Service Life: 8
Maintenance: N Source of Data: Est.
Cribbing
64' x 5' high x 12" (old bridge timber) tbm: 3840
152' x 7" high x 12" (old bridge timber) tbm: 25536
(tie backs) in latter
Age: 5 Remaining Service Life: 7
Maintenance: N Source of Data: Est.
Piping 210" of 1" diameter G.1. (to grass) - L.F.: 210
Age: 6 Remaining Service Life: 24
Maintenance: N Source of Data: Est.
Catch Basins 5 of Type CVP —-4S 5@1.68 cu.fi. C.F.: 8.5
9" X 9" X 3l
Tub 1n Baggage Room
W.P. Staves
W.L Straps ~ }4'x 12' diameter *Similar to Type W.T. 4000 Gals
Open Top

Supported on flooring
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Baltimore & Ohio Railroad, Harpers Ferry Station

HAER No. WV-86
(Page V-2)
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Baltimore & Ohio Railroad, Harpers Ferry Station
HAER No. WV-86
(Page V-3)
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Baltimore & Ohio Railroad, Harpers Ferry Station
HAER No. WV-86

(Page V-5)
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Baltimore & Ohio Railroad, Harpers Ferry Station
HAER No. WV-86
(Page V-6)
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Baltimore & Ohio Railroad, Harpers Ferry Station
HAER No. WV-86

(Page V-7)
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Baltimore & Ohio Railroad, Harpers Ferry Station
HAER No. WV-86
(Page V-8)
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B&O drawing no 16692, details of heating pump pit (3-6-1931).
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Baltimore & Ohio Railroad. Harpers Ferry Station
HAER No. WV-80
(Page VI:5)

1922 Sanborn Fire Insurance Map,
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Baltimore & Ohio Railroad, Harpers Ferry Station
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(Page VII-1)

APPENDIX VII -2002 HAER Drawings of the Harpers Ferry Station.
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